This article was downloaded by: On: *25 January 2011* Access details: *Access Details: Free Access* Publisher *Taylor & Francis* Informa Ltd Registered in England and Wales Registered Number: 1072954 Registered office: Mortimer House, 37-41 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3JH, UK



To cite this Article Sadekov, Igor D. , Zakharov, Alexander V. and Maksimenko, Alexander A.(2002) 'Diorganyl Derivatives of Tellurium(IV) (σ -Telluranes of R_2 TeX₂ Type)', Journal of Sulfur Chemistry, 23: 2, 125 – 198 To link to this Article: DOI: 10.1080/01961770208047970 URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01961770208047970

PLEASE SCROLL DOWN FOR ARTICLE

Full terms and conditions of use: http://www.informaworld.com/terms-and-conditions-of-access.pdf

This article may be used for research, teaching and private study purposes. Any substantial or systematic reproduction, re-distribution, re-selling, loan or sub-licensing, systematic supply or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

The publisher does not give any warranty express or implied or make any representation that the contents will be complete or accurate or up to date. The accuracy of any instructions, formulae and drug doese should be independently verified with primary sources. The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of this material.



DIORGANYL DERIVATIVES OF TELLURIUM(IV) (σ-TELLURANES OF R₂TeX₂ TYPE)

IGOR D. SADEKOV*, ALEXANDER V. ZAKHAROV and ALEXANDER A. MAKSIMENKO

Institute of Physical and Organic Chemistry, Rostov University, RUS – 344090 Rostov-on-Don, Russia

(Received 20 February 2001; accepted 28 March 2002)

Literature data concerning the synthesis and reactions of diorganyl derivatives of tellurium(IV) (σ -telluranes of R₂TeX₂ type) are systematized and generalized in this review.

Keywords: Alkoxytelluration reaction; Aryltellurium trihalides; Detelluration reaction; Diorganyltellurium dihalides; Tellurium tetrahalides

CONTENTS

1.	INT	FRODUCTION	126
2.	SYN	NTHESIS OF σ -TELLURANES R ₂ TeX ₂	126
	2.1.	From Elemental Tellurium	127
		2.1.1. From Organyl Halides	127
		2.1.2. From Diazocompounds and Iodonium Salts	130
	2.2.	From Tellurium Tetrahalides and Aryltellurium Trihalides	130
		2.2.1. Reactions with Organoelement Compounds	130
		2.2.2. Electrophilic Substitution Reactions	136
		2.2.3. Electrophilic Addition Reactions	142
		2.2.4. Reaction of Symmetrization of Organyltellurium Trichlorides	150
	2.3.	From Organic Derivatives of Di- and Tricoordinate Tellurium	150
		2.3.1. From Diorganylditellurides	151
		2.3.2. From Diorganyltellurides	153

^{*}Corresponding author.

	2.3.3. From π -telluranes	. 162
2.4	. Exchange Reactions of the Anionoid Groups	. 167
2.5	. Other Methods	. 175
3. RE	CACTIONS OF σ -TELLURANES R ₂ TeX ₂	.177
3.1	. Reactions Occurring with Decrease of Tellurium Coordination Number	. 177
	3.1.1. Reduction-Elimination Reactions	. 177
	3.1.2. Reactions Resulting in Formation of Derivatives of Tricoordinated	
	Tellurium	. 178
3.2	. Reactions Occurring Without Change of Tellurium Coordination Number	r 181
	3.2.1. Transformation of Functional Groups	. 181
	3.2.2. Preparation of bis(diarylhalogenotellurium)oxides	. 182
	3.2.3. Synthesis of aryltellurium trichlorides	. 182
	3.2.4. Transformation in Tetraaryltelluranes	. 183
3.3	. Reactions Occurring with Increase of Tellurium Coordination Number	. 183
	3.3.1. Conversion to Derivatives of Hexacoordinated Tellurium	. 183
	3.3.2. Complexation Reactions	. 183
3.4	. Reactions Resulting in C-Te Bond Rupture	. 184
REFF	CRENCES	. 193
SUBJ	ECT INDEX	. 199
AUTI	HOR INDEX	203

1. INTRODUCTION

Diorganyl derivatives of tellurium(IV) R_2TeX_2 (X=Hal, CN, SCN, OR, OCOR, SC(S)NR₂ and others) are, according to Musher classification [1], σ -telluranes in which valency electron pairs occupy localized σ -orbitals. A characteristic feature of these compounds in comparison to analogous derivatives of sulfur and selenium is their enhanced thermal stability. σ -Telluranes R_2TeX_2 serve as precursors in the preparation of other types of organotellurium compounds: diorganyltellurides, π -telluranes (telluronium ylides, tellurimides and diaryltelluroxides), tetraaryltelluranes and derivatives of hexacoordinated tellurium. As well as the other organotellurium derivatives [2,3], σ -telluranes R_2TeX_2 are applied in organic synthesis. They are used in preparation of olefins.

Reviews on the synthesis and reactions of the σ -telluranes R₂TeX₂ have been published earlier [4–7] and some data on the structure of these compounds have been reported [8].

2. SYNTHESIS OF σ -TELLURANES R₂TeX₂

A classification of the preparative methods for the synthesis of diorganyl derivatives of tellurium(IV) according to the nature of the tellurium-containing substrate has been chosen among several possible ones.

2.1. From Elemental Tellurium

2.1.1. From Organyl Halides

R=H,

Methyliodide reacts with powdered tellurium to give dimethyltellurium diiodide 1 (R = Me) in the yields higher than 50% [9–13]. This reaction has been applied for the synthesis of ¹²⁵Te and ¹²⁹Te isotopomers of 1 (R = Me) [14]. The reaction with other alkyl iodides results in lower yields of dialkyltellurium diiodides [11,15–17]. Thus, diamyltellurium diiodide was obtained in only 5% yield [11] (Scheme 1).

$$RI + Te \xrightarrow{\Delta} R_2 Tel_2$$

1

 $R = CH_2I_1^{[17]} Me_1^{[9-14]} Et_1^{[11,15,16]} Pr, Bu, C_5H_{11}^{[11]} PhCH_2^{[15]}$

SCHEME 1

Some of diorganyltellurium diiodides were prepared in 50-70% yields by heating mixtures of organyl chlorides [18,19] or bromides [20-22] with sodium iodide and powdered tellurium in DMF [18] or in the absence of the solvent [19-22].

RX + NaI + Te
$$\xrightarrow{\Delta}$$
 R₂TeI₂
1
X = Cl; R = PhCH₂,^[19] C₁₆H₃₃^[18]
X = Br; R = c-C₆H₁₁,^[20] PhCOCH₂,^[22] PhCOCH(Me)^[21]

SCHEME 2

When an electron-accepting group is attached to the α -carbon of the organyl group the reaction of tellurium with such type organyl bromides proceeds rather smoothly [21,22] (the yields are 45–65%) (Scheme 3).

Ph COCH (R)Br + Te
$$\xrightarrow{100^{\circ}\text{C}}$$
 [PhC OC H(R)]₂TeBr₂
Me

SCHEME 3

In a similar way, benzyl cyanide reacts with tellurium upon heating to give dibenzyltellurium dicyanide 2 in 60% yield [19] (Scheme 4).

PhCH₂CN + Te
$$\xrightarrow{160^{\circ}C/32h}$$
 (PhCH₂)₂Te(CN)₂
2

Iodobenzene does not react with tellurium, but interaction of iodopolyfluoroarenes and Te at $230-260^{\circ}$ C leads to *bis*(pentafluorophenyl)telluride **3a** (yield is 100%) [23] and *bis*(2-nonafluorobiphenyl)telluride **3b** (yield is 35%) [24] (Scheme 5).

$$R_{F}I + Te \xrightarrow{230^{\circ}-260^{\circ}C} (R_{F})_{2}Te$$

3
 $R_{F}=C_{6}F_{5}(a), 2-C_{6}F_{5}C_{6}F_{4}(b)$
SCHEME 5

Probably the strong electronoacceptor properties of the polyfluoroaryl group weakening the Te–I bonds in intermediate σ -telluranes (R_F)₂TeI₂ as well as the high reaction temperature result in the decomposition of the σ -telluranes to diaryl tellurides 3 and iodine.

Organic dihalides react with powdered tellurium to give heterocyclic compounds. Thus, the heating of 1,4-diiodobutane with Te results in the formation of 1,1-diiodo-1-telluracyclopentane **4a** [17,25,26] (the yield is quantative) (Scheme 6). Tellurium diiodides **4a,b** were also prepared through heating of 1-chloro-4-bromobutane [27] or 1,4-dibromopentane [28] with NaI in 2-butoxyethanol (Scheme 7).



X=Cl, R=H; X=Br, R=Me

SCHEME 7

Substituted 2,5-dihydrotellurophene 5 [29] (the yields were not given) (Scheme 8), 1,1diiodo-2,5-dihydrobenzo[c]tellurophenes 6 [30-33] (the yields were 80-85%) (Scheme 9) and 1,3-dihydro-2,2-diiodo- $2\lambda^4$ -tellurolo[3,4-b]quinoxaline 7 [34,35] (the yields were 53-60%) (Scheme 10) were synthesized by heating of corresponding dibromides [29,31,34-36] or dichlorides [30,32,33] with NaI and tellurium.





 $R \xrightarrow{CH_2X}_{CH_2X} + NaI + Te \xrightarrow{\Delta}_{-NaX} R \xrightarrow{Te}_{I}$

R=H: X=Cl,^[30] Br; ^[31] R=Me: X=Cl ^[30, 32, 33]

SCHEME 9



SCHEME 10

The six-membered heterocycles with 1,1-diiodo-1-telluracyclohexane **8** [17] (the yield was 63%) (Scheme 11) and 1,1-diiodo-3,5-naphto-1-telluracyclohexane **9** [36] (the yield was not given) (Scheme 12) and two heteroatoms (4,4-diiodo-1-oxa-4-telluracyclohexane **10** [17,37] (the yields were 10–13%) (Scheme 11)) were obtained in a similar way.







SCHEME 12

2.1.2. From Diazocompounds and Iodonium Salts

Symmetrical diaryltellurium dichlorides **11** were obtained in relatively low yields (4-44%) by coupling aryldiazonium chlorides with powdered tellurium in the presence of calcium carbonate [38,39] (Scheme 13).

 $RC_{6}H_{4}N_{2}Cl + Te \xrightarrow{Me_{2}CO / CaCO_{3}} (RC_{6}H_{4})_{2}TeCl_{2}$ $-N_{2} \qquad 11$

 $R = H_{*}^{[38]} 2-Me, 3-Me, 4-Me, 2-MeO, 3-MeO, 4-MeO, 2-EtO, 3-EtO, 4-EtO, 2-Cl, 3-Cl, 4-Cl, 2-Br, 3-Br, 4-Br^{[39]}$

SCHEME 13

Diphenyltellurium dichloride can also be obtained by heating dry diphenyliodonium chloride with tellurium [40]. By carrying out this reaction in ether [40,41] in the presence of reductants (H_2S [40] or thioglycolic acid [41]) diphenyltelluride was formed.

2.2. From Tellurium Tetrahalides and Aryltellurium Trihalides

2.2.1. Reactions with Organoelement Compounds

The exchange reactions of tellurium tetrahalides and aryltellurium trihalides with organomercury compounds and main group 13 (IIIA) (In, Tl) and 14 (IVA) (Si, Sn, Pb) serve as important sources of diorganyltellurium dihalides R_2TeX_2 . Symmetrical diorganyltellurium dihalides were prepared in 43–58% yields by coupling tellurium tetrahalides with organylmercury halides taken in the 1:2 ratio [42,43] (Scheme 14).

 $TeX_{4} + RHgCl \xrightarrow{C_{4}H_{8}O_{2}/\Delta} R_{2}TeX_{2}$ $X = Cl: R = CH_{2}CHCH_{2}CPh_{2}C(O)O \xrightarrow{[42]} X = Br: R = 2-NH_{2}-5-MeC_{6}H_{3}, 2-NH_{2}-5-BrC_{6}H_{3}, 2-NH_{2}-5-NO_{2}C_{6}H_{3}^{[43]}$

SCHEME 14

When the reaction of arylmercury halides and organyltellurium trihalides was performed with the equimolar amounts of the reactants both symmetrical and nonsymmetrical diorganyltellurium dichlorides were formed [44–52] (Scheme 15). This reaction represents a general approach to the synthesis of nonsymmetrical diaryltellurium dichlorides. It was also applied to the preparation of arylalkyl- and arylcycloalkyltellurium dichlorides. As for the reaction of TeCl₄ with arylmercury chlorides, dioxan serves as the most suitable solvent. The yields of diorganyltellurium dichlorides are 42-95%.

$$ArTeCl_{3} + RHgCl \xrightarrow{C_{4}H_{8}O_{2}/\Delta} ArTeCl_{2}R$$

$$-HgCl_{2} \cdot C_{4}H_{8}O_{2}$$

$$Ar = 4-FC_{6}H_{4}, 4-ClC_{6}H_{4}, 4-BrC_{6}H_{4}: R = 4-FC_{6}H_{4}^{[51]}$$

$$Ar = Ph: R = 4-FC_{6}H_{4};^{[51]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, 2-C_{10}H_{7};^{[44]} 2-Me_{2}N-5-MeC_{6}H_{3};^{[45]}$$

$$2-OH-5-MeC_{6}H_{3}:^{[47]}$$

$$Ar = 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}: R = 4-FC_{6}H_{4}^{[51]}$$

$$Ar = 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}: R = Et, PhCH_{2};^{[49]} 4-FC_{6}H_{4};^{[51]} Ph, 1-C_{10}H_{7}, 2-C_{10}H_{7};^{[44]}$$

$$4-Me_{2}CHC_{6}H_{4};^{[50]} 2-Me_{2}N-5-MeC_{6}H_{3};^{[45, 46]} 2-OH-5-MeC_{6}H_{3};^{[47]}$$

$$Ar = 4-EtCC_{6}H_{4}: R = 2-Me_{2}N-5-MeC_{6}H_{3};^{[45, 46]} 2-OH-5-MeC_{6}H_{3};^{[47]}$$

$$2-PhN=NC_{6}H_{4}^{[52]}$$

$$Ar = 4-PhOC_{6}H_{4}: R = CH_{2}CHCH_{2}CPh_{2}C(O)O;^{[42]} Ph, 1-C_{10}H_{7}, 2-C_{10}H_{7}^{[44]}$$

$$Ar = 2-MeCONH-5-MeC_{6}H_{3}: R = 4-HOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}, 2-MeCONH-5-BrC_{6}H_{3}: R = 4-HOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-R = 2-MeCONH-5-BrC_{6}H_{3}: 2-MeCONH-5-BrC_{6}H_{3}, 2-$$

SCHEME 15

By coupling benzalanilines *o*-mercurated at the *N*-phenyl ring with 4-ethoxyphenyl tellurium trichloride a series of tellurium-containing azomethines **12** has been prepared in 70–93% yields [53] (Scheme 16).



Ar = $EtOC_6H_4$; R = H: R¹ = Me, MeO, Cl, Br; R¹ = Me: R = 4-MeO, 3-MeO, 2-MeO, 4-Cl, 3-Cl, 2-Cl, 4-Br, 3-Br, 4-NO₂, 3-NO₂

Aryl(4-dimethylaminophenyl)tellurium dichlorides 13 can be obtained in 17-41% yields when 4-dimethylaminophenylmercury acetate is employed in this reaction instead of the respective chloride [51,54] (Scheme 17).

$$RC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{3} + 4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}HgOAc \xrightarrow{C_{4}H_{8}O_{2}/\Delta} RC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{2}C_{6}H_{4}NMe_{2}-4$$

-Hg(OAc)Cl · C₄H₈O₂ 13

R = H, 4-OMe, 4-OEt, 4-OPh, 4-Me, 4-Cl, 3-Cl, 4-Br, 3-Br, 3-NO₂^[54] 4-F^[51]

SCHEME 17

Intramolecularly N-Hg coordinated arylmercury chlorides react with aryltellurium trichlorides to give telluronium salts. 2-(2'-Pyridyl)phenylmercury chloride and 2-dimethylaminomethylphenylmercury chloride form in the reaction with 4-ethoxy-phenyl tellurium trichloride the telluronium salts **14a** [55] (the yield is 67%) (Scheme 18) and **14b** [56] (the yield is 51%) (Scheme 19), respectively.



14b

 $Ar = 4-EtOC_6H_4$

SCHEME 19

Diarylmercury reacts with TeCl₄ when refluxing their dioxane solution to give the compounds 11 in high yields (80-98%) [57,58] (Scheme 20).

 $(RC_{6}H_{4})_{2}Hg + TeCl_{4} \xrightarrow{C_{4}H_{8}O_{2}/\Delta} (RC_{6}H_{4})_{2}TeCl_{2}$ $(RC_{6}H_{4})_{2}TeCl_{2} \xrightarrow{T} 11$ $R = H_{2}^{[57, 58]} 4-Me, 4-OMe, 4-Br^{[57]}$

The use of aryltellurium trichlorides in this reaction instead of TeCl₄ yields nonsymmetric diaryl tellurium dichlorides in high yields (93–97%) [57] (Scheme 21).

$$(RC_{6}H_{4})_{2}Hg + 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{3} \xrightarrow{C_{4}H_{8}O_{2}/\Delta} RC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{2}C_{6}H_{4}OMe-4$$

R = H, 4-Me

SCHEME 21

Diaryltellurium dichlorides were also obtained by using in the reaction with TeCl₄ main group 13 (IIIA) organoelement compounds, Ar_2MCl (M = In, Tl) [59]. The reaction proceeds smoothly when refluxing toluene solutions of the components to give 11 in 86–96% yields (Scheme 22).

$$Ar_2MCl + TeCl_4 \xrightarrow{PhMe/\Delta} Ar_2TeCl_2$$

11

M = In: Ar = Ph; M = Tl: Ar = Ph, $4-MeC_6H_4$

SCHEME 22

The reaction of aryltellurium trichlorides with aryltrimethylsilanes occurs at rather rigid conditions (large excess of silane, long-term refluxing of a dioxane solution) and leads to both symmetric and nonsymmetric diaryltellurium dichlorides in modest yields (32–58%) [60] (Scheme 23). The tellurium dichlorides thus obtained require additional purification.

$$RC_{6}H_{4}SiMe_{3} + R_{1}C_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{3} \xrightarrow{C_{4}H_{8}O_{2}/\Delta} RC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{2}C_{6}H_{4}R^{1}$$

$$R = R^{1} = 4-Me, 3-Me; R = 4-Me, R^{1} = 4-OMe$$
SCHEME 23

A useful modification of this reaction has been developed by Barton [61]. By coupling N-trimethylsilylmorpholine with 4-methoxyphenyltellurium trichloride or TeCl₄ then 4-methoxyphenyl(N-morpholinyl)tellurium dichloride and *bis*(morpholinyl)tellurium dichloride were obtained (the yields were not given) (Scheme 24). These compounds were employed as a mild oxidant of hydroquinones and thiols.

$$\operatorname{ArTeCl}_{\overline{2}} = N \qquad 0 \qquad -\operatorname{Me}_{3}\operatorname{SiCl} \qquad \operatorname{Me}_{3}\operatorname{SiN} \qquad 0 \qquad -\operatorname{Me}_{3}\operatorname{SiCl} \qquad \left(\qquad 0 \qquad N \qquad - \right)_{2} \operatorname{TeCl}_{2}$$

 $Ar = 4 - MeOC_6H_4$

Tellurium dichlorides, with Te-N bonds, were also prepared by interaction of tellurium tetrachloride and aryltellurium trichlorides with trimethylsilyl derivatives containing N-Si bonds [62-65] (Scheme 25-28).

$$TeCl_{4} + RE = NSiMe_{3} \xrightarrow{-Me_{3}SiCl} (RE = N)_{2}TeCl_{2}$$

$$RE = Ph_{3}P(56\%),^{[62, 63]} Ph_{2}S(62\%),^{[64]} Ph_{2}C(24\%)^{[64]}$$

$$SCHEME 25$$

4-MeOC₆H₄TeCl₃ + RE=NSiMe₃ \rightarrow RE=NTeCl₂C₆H₄OMe-4

 $RE = Ph_{3}P(68\%), [^{62, 63]} Me_{2}S(O)(63\%), [^{62]} Ph_{2}S(60\%), [^{64]} Ph_{2}C(60\%)[^{64]}$

SCHEME 26







The Csp³-Si bond does not split under the action of tellurium tetrachloride. Thus on 12 h refluxing of benzyltrimethylsilane with TeCl₄ in toluene a mixture of $4-Me_3SiCH_2C_6H_4TeCl_3$ and $(4-Me_3SiCH_2C_6H_4)_2TeCl_2$ was formed [66].

Organotin and organolead compounds are more reactive than their silicon analogues. Refluxing toluene solutions of tellurium tetrahalides with tetraorganylstannanes [59,67-69] or triorganyltin chlorides [48,68] affords symmetric and nonsymmetric diorganyltellurium dichlorides and dibromides in high yields (75–92%) (Scheme 29, 30).

$$R_{4}Sn + TeX_{4} \xrightarrow{PhMe/\Delta} R_{2}TeX_{2}$$

$$X = Cl: R = Me;^{[69]} Et;^{[67, 69]} Pr;^{[69]} Ph;^{[68, 69]} 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}^{[59]}$$

$$X = Br: R = Me;^{[69]} Et;^{[67, 69]} Pr;^{[69]} Ph;^{[69]} Ph;^{[67, 69]}$$

$$X = I: R = Ph^{[67]}$$

SCHEME 29

 $R_{3}SnCl + ArTeCl_{3} \xrightarrow{PhMe/\Delta} ArTeCl_{2}R$ $R = Ph: Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4};^{[68]} 2-MeCONH-5-BrC_{6}H_{3}^{[68]}$

SCHEME 30

The electrophilicity of tellurium tetrahalides decreases in the order of $\text{TeCl}_4 > \text{TeBr}_4 > \text{TeI}_4$. By this reason the synthesis of tellurium dibromides and tellurium diiodides from tetraarylstannanes requires more rigid conditions than those used in the synthesis of tellurium dichlorides. Refluxing Ph₄Sn with TeBr₄ for 12 h affords diphenyltellurium dibromide in 92%. However, diphenyltellurium diiodide was obtained in only 20% yield even after 48 h refluxing of a mixture of TeI₄ and Ph₄Sn [67]. It is worth noting that the reaction of dialkyldiarylstannanes with TeCl₄ is accompanied by scission of the C_{Ar}-Sn bonds. Diphenyltellurium dichloride was prepared through interaction of Ph₂SnBu₂ with TeCl₄ in 84% yield [59].

Organolead compounds readily react with TeCl_4 and aryltellurium trihalides in toluene solution even at room temperature to give diorganyltellurium dichlorides in 73–94% yields [70,71]. As in the case of organotin compounds, diaryldialkylplumbanes split their C_{Ar} -Pb bonds in the reaction with TeCl_4 [70] (Schemes 31–34).

$$R_4Pb + TeCl_4 \xrightarrow{PhMe/r.t.} R_2TeCl_2$$

$$R = Me_{1}^{[71]} Ph_{1} - MeC_{6}H_{4}^{[70]}$$

 $Ph_{3}PbCl + RC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{3} \xrightarrow{PhMe/r.t.} PhTeCl_{2}C_{6}H_{4}R$

 $R = H, 4-OEt^{[70]}$

$$R_6Pb_2 + TeCl_4 \xrightarrow{PhMe/r.t.} R_2TeCl_2$$

$$R = Me, Ph, 4-MeC_6H_4, 4-MeOC_6H_4^{[71]}$$
SCHEME 33

$$Ph_{6}Pb_{2} + RC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{3} \xrightarrow{PhMe/r.t.} PhTeCl_{2}C_{6}H_{4}R$$

$$R = 4-EtO, 3-Me-4-OMe, 3,4-(OMe)_{2}^{[71]}$$

$$SCHEME 34$$

2.2.2. Electrophilic Substitution Reactions

2.2.2.1. Reactions with Arenes It is known that the reaction of arenes containing electron-releasing substituents with TeCl₄ results in aryltellurium trichlorides [72]. When boiling the reagents in an excess of the arene, symmetrical diaryltellurium dichlorides can be obtained in 52-95% yields [73-77] (Scheme 35).



 $R = 4-OMe_{,}^{[73]} 4-EtO_{,}^{[74]} 2,4-(OH)_{2},^{[75]} 2,4-(OMe)_{2},^{[74,76]} 3,4-(OMe)_{2},^{[76]} 3-Me-4-OMe_{,}^{[76]} 3-Me-4-OH, 2-OH-5-Me_{,}^{[77]}$

SCHEME 35

No such reaction occurs with alkoxynaphthalenes, monoalkylated resorcinol, hydroquinone and *p*-nitroanisole [73]. Also unsuccessful were attempts of the synthesis of *bis*(*p*-dimethylaminophenyl)tellurium dichloride by direct coupling of dimethylaminobenzene with TeCl₄. The reaction stopped at the formation of the complex $(Me_2NC_6H_5)_2 \cdot TeCl_4$ which was formed in quantitative yield [78]. However, under treatment with boiling water, the complex yielded to the desirable dichloride (20–30%). The mechanism of this transformation remains unclear, although the structure of the product was proven [78,79].

Triphenylamine, less basic than dimethylaminobenzene, readily reacts with $TeCl_4$ to give *bis*(4-diphenylaminophenyl)tellurium dichloride [80] (the yield was not given) (Scheme 36).

$$Ph_{3}N + TeCl_{4} \xrightarrow{C_{6}H_{6}/Et_{3}N/r.t./24h} \left(Ph_{2}N \xrightarrow{} \right)_{2} TeCl_{2}$$

Formation of diaryltellurium dichlorides 11 by coupling arenes with $TeCl_4$ is a two-step reaction (Scheme 37).

$$TeCl_{4} + C_{6}H_{5}R \xrightarrow{\Delta} 4-RC_{6}H_{4}TeCl_{3} \xrightarrow{C_{6}H_{5}R/\Delta} (4-RC_{6}H_{4})_{2}TeCl_{2}$$

$$I1$$
SCHEME 37

It was found indeed that by coupling 4-methoxyphenyltellurium trichloride with anisole [76] and 4-phenoxyphenyltellurium trichloride with diphenyl oxide [81] correspondingly symmetrical diaryltellurium dichlorides can be obtained. As Morgan reported [82], reaction of 4-ethoxyphenyl tellurium trichloride with anisole gave rise to 4-ethoxyphenyl(4'-methoxyphenyl)tellurium dichloride. However, in a more recent study [76] it was found that at prolonged heating of aryl tellurium trichlorides with aromatic compounds, the aryl exchange reaction took place (Scheme 38). The yields of final compounds are about 80%.



R = EtO, Me, Br

SCHEME 38

Although the *p*-isomer represented the main product of this reaction, small amounts of other isomers are formed. In the reaction of anisole with $TeCl_4$ at 160°C about 1% of 4-methoxyphenyl(2'-methoxyphenyl)tellurium dichloride was isolated along with di(4-methoxyphenyl)tellurium dichloride [83].

Aryltellurium trichlorides react with arenes bearing strong electron-releasing groups in the aryl ring at milder conditions allowing avoidance of the aryl exchange. A series of aryl(4-dimethylaminophenyl)tellurium dihalides 13 (the yields are 51-75%) (Scheme 39) and aryl(2,4-dihydroxyphenyl)tellurium dihalides 15 (the yields are 61-70%) (Scheme 40) were obtained by coupling aryltellurium trichlorides with dimethylaniline and resorcinol at room temperature [84].



R = Me, Et, Ph; X = Cl, Br



R = Me, Et, Ph; X = Cl, Br

SCHEME 40

The electrophilicity of aryltellurium trichlorides is significantly enhanced in the presence of catalytic amounts of AlCl₃. This is due to formation of complex $[ArTeCl_2]^+[AlCl_4]^-$ whose ionic structure was assigned by analogy with the adduct of TeCl₄ and AlCl₃ [85]. In the presence of AlCl₃ symmetrical diaryltellurium dichlorides can be obtained by reaction of TeCl₄ with such aromatic compounds as benzene, toluene, chlorobenzene and bromobenzene [76]. Diaryltellurium dichlorides thus obtained are usually admixed with aryltellurium trichlorides. In the case of the reaction of TeCl₄ with benzene, a procedure has been elaborated [86] that involves interruption of the process when two moles of HCl per mole of TeCl₄ are eliminated.

The use of TeOCl_2 (obtained by a treatment of "telluroxynitrate" with concentrated hydrochloric acid) is exemplified by the reaction with three isomeric cresols in ether solution. Subsequent evaporation of the solvent and heating the residue at 110–130°C gives rise to di(2-hydroxy-5-methylphenyl)-, di(2-methyl-4-hydroxyphenyl)- and di(3-methyl-4-hydroxyphenyl) tellurium dichlorides [87].

2.2.2.2. Reactions with Compounds Containing Active Methylene Groups Tellurium tetrachloride and aryltellurium trichlorides enter into electrophilic substitution reaction at the sp³-carbon of activated methyl or methylene groups. Thus the reaction of Te Cl₄ and acetic acid anhydride at mole ratio 1:2 of the reagents affords carboxymethyltellurium trichloride and methylenebis(tellurium trichloride) 16 [88]. When six-fold molar excess of acetic anhydride was used, 16 and bis(carboxymethyl)tellurium dichloride 17 were formed as the products of this reaction [88] (Scheme 41).

 $(CH_3CO)_2O + TeCl_4 \xrightarrow{CHCl_3/\Delta} CH_2(TeCl_3)_2 + (HOOCCH_2)_2TeCl_2$ 16 17

SCHEME 41

Reaction of TeCl₄ with other acid anhydrides does not lead to compounds of type 17 [88]. The reaction of methylketones in chloroform or tetrachloromethane solution with TeCl₄ forms diorganyl tellurium dichlorides 18 [75,89–98]. In some cases formation of the dichlorides 18 is accompanied by organyltellurium trichlorides 19 (Scheme 42). *Bis*(benzoylmethyl)tellurium dichloride was also obtained in 75% yield by a treatment of acetophenone with solution of TeO₂ in a mixture of

hydrochloric and sulfuric acids [95].

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{RCOCH}_{3} + \text{TeCl}_{4} \xrightarrow{\Delta} & (\text{RCOCH}_{2})_{2}\text{TeCl}_{2} + \text{RCOCH}_{2}\text{TeCl}_{3} \\ & \textbf{18} & \textbf{19} \\ \\ & \textbf{R} = \text{Me}, \stackrel{[90, 96]}{\to} \text{Pr}, \stackrel{[90, 96]}{\to} \text{Pr}^{i}, \stackrel{[90, 96]}{\to} \text{Bu}, \stackrel{[90]}{\to} \text{Bu}^{i}, \stackrel{[90]}{\to} \text{Bu}^{i}, \stackrel{[90, 94]}{\to} 2\text{-thienyl}, \stackrel{[93, 94]}{\to} 3\text{-thienyl}, \stackrel{[91]}{\to} \\ & \textbf{Ph}, \stackrel{[75, 89, 90, 93, 94]}{\to} 4\text{-BrC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[93]}{\to} 4\text{-ClC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[93]}{\to} 4\text{-MeC}_{6}\text{H}_{3}, \stackrel{[75, 93, 94]}{\to} 4\text{-MeOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[75, 93, 94]}{\to} 3\text{-MeOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[98]}{\to} 4\text{-EtOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[89]}{\to} 2, 4\text{-MeOC}_{6}\text{H}_{3}, \stackrel{[89]}{\to} 2, 4, 5\text{-Me}_{3}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{2}, \stackrel{[89]}{\to} 4\text{-Pr}^{i}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[89]}{\to} 1\text{-}C_{10}\text{H}_{7}, \stackrel{[89, 93]}{\to} 2\text{-}C_{10}\text{H}_{7}, \stackrel{[93]}{\to} 9\text{-anthryl}, \stackrel{[93]}{\to} 2\text{-benzo}[b]\text{furanyl}^{[93]} \end{aligned}$$

SCHEME 42

It is obvious that the formation of tellurium dichlorides 18 is a two-stage process (Scheme 43).



In some cases, depending upon the structure of the initial ketone and to a lesser degree on the reaction conditions, a mixture of tellurium dichlorides **18** and tellurium trichlorides **19** or exclusively compounds **19** may be obtained. Thus, the mixture of $PrCOCH_2TeCl_3$ (47%) and $(PrCOCH_2)_2TeCl_2$ (61%) is formed when 2-pentanone is reacted with TeCl_4 [96]. Trichloride of the type **19** is obtained by refluxing a solution of 3-methoxyacetophenone and TeCl_4 (molar ratio 1:1) in CCl_4 for 7 h, whereas 76 h refluxing of these substrates (molar ratio 2:1) in CHCl_3 leads to the corresponding tellurium dichlorides of type **18** [97]. The tellurium trichlorides **19** are the only products of reactions TeCl_4 and some polyfunctional ketones [91]. Thus, 2-acetylcyclohexanone, 3-acetyl-7-methoxycoumarin and 2,6-diacetylpyridine are tellurated with formation of tellurium trichlorides **20–22** even when a twofold molar excess of ketone is used (Fig. 1).



FIGURE 1



It is obvious that the electrophilicity of the $TeCl_3$ groups in compound 20–22 is reduced as a result of intramolecular coordination between O and Te and the reaction stops at this stage.

The structure of the products of reaction of cycloalkanones with TeCl₄ is determined by the size of the cycle [93]. Whereas the tellurium trichlorides **23** are formed in the case of cyclohexanone (n = 1) and cycloheptanone (n = 2), the tellurium dichloride **24** is the product of the reaction with cyclooctanone (n = 3) (Fig. 2).

Some diketones react with $TeCl_4$ to form, along with 1,1-dichloro-1-telluracyclohexane-3,5-diones, diorganyltellurium dichlorides **25** [99,100] (the yields were not given) (Scheme 44).

$$RCOCH(R^{1})COCH_{3} + TeCl_{4} \xrightarrow{CHCl_{3} \text{ or } C_{6}H_{6}} (RCOC(R^{1}) \xrightarrow{CCH_{2}}_{2}TeCl_{2}$$

$$OH$$

$$25$$

$$R^{1} = H: R = Bu^{t}, Ph;^{[99]} Bu^{i};^{[100]} R^{1} = Cl, R = Me^{[99]}$$

SCHEME 44

 α -Telluroketones **26** were obtained in 57–97% yields in the reactions of aryltellurium trichlorides [84,93,101] and tribromides [84] occurring at rather mild conditions (r.t. in the absence of solvent [84]; Δ , CCl₄ [94]; Δ , C₆H₆ [101]) (Scheme 45).

$$4-RC_{6}H_{4}TeX_{3} + R^{1}COCH_{3} \xrightarrow{-HX} 4-RC_{6}H_{4}TeX_{2}CH_{2}COR^{1}$$

X = Br: R = OMe, OEt, OPh; R¹ = Me, Ph^[84] X = Cl: R = OMe: R¹ = Me,^[84, 101] Bu^t,^[101] Ph,^[84, 93, 101] R = OEt, OPh: R¹ = Me, Ph;^[84] R = 3,4-C₄H₄, R¹ = Ph^[93]

With cycloalkanones aryltellurium trichlorides form the dichlorides 27 in 82–100% yields [101] (Scheme 46).



Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄: R = H: n = 0, 1, 2; R = Me, n = 1

SCHEME 46

Another approach to the synthesis of the ketones 18 (R = Ph) is the coupling of the silyl enol ether of ketone 28 (R = Ph) with TeCl₄ [102] (Scheme 47). The yield of 28 was 63%.



R=Ph

SCHEME 47

The reactions of trimethylsilyloxycyclopropane with $TeCl_4$ results in the tellurium dichloride 29 in 95% yield [103] (Scheme 48).

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{Bu}^{\text{L}} \\ \text{Me}_{3}\text{SiO} \end{array} + \text{TeCl}_{4} \xrightarrow{\text{CH}_{2}\text{Cl}_{2}/0^{0}\text{C}} (\text{Bu}^{\text{t}}\text{COCH}_{2})_{2}\text{TeCl}_{2} \\ \hline \text{Me}_{3}\text{SiC} \end{array}$

SCHEME 48

 α -Telluroketones 26 and 27 were also obtained by reaction of aryltellurium trichlorides with silyl ethers of ketones when refluxing a benzene solution of the components [101,102] (Scheme 49). First examples of this reaction were described in 1978 [102]. In this case, the reactions are faster and the yields of telluroketones (70–100%) are higher than in the reactions of ketones and TeCl₄.



The ketones **26** were also prepared in 60–90% yields by coupling the enolacetates of ketones with aryltellurium trichlorides [104] (Scheme 50).

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{R-C=CHR}^{1} + \text{ArTeCl}_{3} & \xrightarrow{C_{6}\text{H}_{5}\text{Me}/\Delta} & \text{RCCH}(\text{R}^{1})\text{TeCl}_{2}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{4}\text{R} \\ | \\ \text{OCOMe} & & \text{O} & 26 \end{array}$ $\text{Ar} = 3,4-(\text{MeO})_{2}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{3}: \text{R} = \text{R}^{1} = \text{Me}; \text{R} + \text{R}^{1} = (\text{CH}_{2})_{4}$ SCHEME 50

As with TeCl₄, reaction of acetylacetone with aryltellurium trichlorides occurs at a methyl group of the diketone to give the compounds 30 in 30–90% yields [105] (Scheme 51). In a deuterochloroform solution of 30 (R = Ph) the keto–enol equilibrium is shifted to the enol form (95%). Electron donor substituents in the aryl ring of 30 favor the keto form.



$$Ar = Ph, 4-HOC_6H_4, 4-MeOC_6H_4, 4-EtOC_6H_4, 3-Me-4-HOC_6H_3, 2,4-(OH)_2C_6H_3$$

SCHEME 51

2.2.3. Electrophilic Addition Reactions

2.2.3.1. Reactions with Alkenes Tellurium tetrachloride adds to a double bond of alkenes and cycloalkenes to give *bis*[chloroalkyl(β -cycloalkyl)]tellurium dichlorides **31** in 20–100% yields [106–113] (Scheme 52). The reactions are usually carried out in tetrachloromethane or acetonitrile solutions at 5–60°C with a molar ratio of alkene: TeCl₄=2:1. Solvents with high dielectric constant provide for higher yields of **31** [109].

$$TeCl_4 + R^1CH = CHR^2 \longrightarrow (R^1CHClCHR^2)_2 TeCl_2$$
31
$$R^1 = R^2 = H_2^{[107, 110, 112]} R^2 = H_2 R^1 = Me_2^{[109, 111, 112]} Et_2^{[108]} R^1 + R^2 = (CH_2)_4^{[106-108, 113]}$$
SCHEME 52

Some alkenes (e.g. stilbene) and dienes are inert with respect to TeCl_4 [42] and others (styrene, diisobutylene, 1,4-diphenylbutadiene-1,3) act as reductants reducing TeCl_4 to elemental tellurium [42]. In certain cases, the direction of the reaction can be modified by the reaction conditions (solvent, temperature). Thus, by carrying out the reaction of 1,3-butadiene with TeCl_4 in acetonitrile solution, 1,1-dichloro-2,5-dihydrotellurophene

is formed [114,115], in 62% yield, whereas by passing 1,3-butadiene through a suspension of TeCl₄ in tetrachlomethane results in *bis*(4-chloro-2-butenyl)tellurium dichloride [112] in 20–30% yield (Scheme 53).



Cyclohexene reacts with TeCl₄ in tetrachloromethane solution at room or lower temperature to afford the dichloride **31** ($\mathbb{R}^1 + \mathbb{R}^2 = (CH_2)_4$). By refluxing the components, benzene was formed as the main product of this reaction [116,117]. Under similar conditions, aromatization of methyl- and halogenocyclohexenes occurs [117]. The conjugated dienes, e.g. 1,1'-bicyclohexene, are chlorinated by TeCl₄, whereas the dienes with separated double bonds (2,2'-bicyclopentene [116,117] and 2,2'-bicyclohexene [117] react with TeCl₄ to give derivatives of tetrahydrotellurophene (Scheme 54).



SCHEME 54

Reports on the reaction of 1,1-diarylethylenes with TeCl₄ are controversial. The first statement [118] on the π -complex structure of the product from the reaction was later discarded [119] and the compound was assigned to a σ -tellurane type of 32 (Scheme 55).

$$Ph_2C=CH_2 + TeCl_4 \xrightarrow{-HCl} (Ph_2C=CH)_2TeCl_2$$

32

SCHEME 55

While terminal alkenes add TeCl₄ to their double bonds in accordance with the Markovnikov rule, reaction of functionalized alkenes with tellurium tetrahalides give rise to mixtures of the Markovnikov and anti-Markovnikov products 33 and 34 [120] (Scheme 56) (the yields of compounds of types 33 and 34 are 48% and 12% for X=Cl; 13% and 51% for X=Br).

$$H_2C = CHCH_2X + TeX_4 \longrightarrow (XCH_2CHCH_2)_2TeX_2 + [(XCH_2)_2CH]_2TeX_2$$

$$\downarrow X$$

$$33 \qquad 34$$

X = Cl, Br

The data on the addition of TeBr_4 to alkenes are absent. It reacts, however, with triphenylphosphonium carboxymethylide to give the dibromide 35 [121] (Scheme 57) (the yield was not given).

$$Ph_3P=CHCO_2Et + TeBr_4 \longrightarrow [Ph_3PCH(CO_2Et)-TeBr_2-CH(CO_2Et)PPh_3]^{2+2Br}$$

35

SCHEME 57

Aryltellurium trichlorides readily add to the alkene double bonds to form aryl-2chloroalkyl(cycloalkyl)tellurium dichlorides **36** in yields of 42–98% [42,122–126]. The reactions are usually performed by refluxing the components (small excess of an alkene) in chloroform or tetrachloromethane solution (Scheme 58).

ArTeCl₃ + R¹CH=CHR²
$$\longrightarrow$$
 $\stackrel{R^1}{\underset{Cl}{\longrightarrow}} CHCH(R^2)TeCl_2Ar$

$$\begin{split} R^2 &= H: \ R^1 = Me, \ Ar = 2 - C_{10}H_7, ^{[125]} R^1 = C_8 H_{17}, \ Ar = 2 - C_{10}H_7, ^{[126]} R^2 = D: \ R^1 = C_8 H_{17}, \\ Ar &= 2 - C_{10}H_7, ^{[126]} R^1 = R^2 = Me: \ Ar = 2 - C_{10}H_7, ^{[125, 126]} \\ R^1 + R^2 &= (CH_2)_3: \ Ar = 2 - C_{10}H_7, ^{[126]} \\ R^1 + R^2 &= (CH_2)_4: \ Ar = Ph, ^{[42]} 4 - EtOC_6 H_4, ^{[42, 122]} 4 - PhOC_6 H_4, \ 1 - C_{10}H_7, ^{[42]} 2 - C_{10}H_7, ^{[42, 126]} \\ 4 - MeC_6 H_4, ^{[123]} \\ R^1 + R^2 &= CH(Me)(CH_2)_3: \ Ar = 4 - MeOC_6 H_4, \ 4 - EtOC_6 H_4, \ 2, 4 - (MeO)_2 C_6 H_3, \\ 3, 4 - (MeO)_2 C_6 H_3, \ 3, 5 - Me_2 - 4 - HOC_6 H_2, ^{[124]} \end{split}$$

SCHEME 58

The compounds 36 are obtained via a stereospecific anti-addition to the alkenes [126]. Thus, the threo isomer is obtained from (Z)-2-butene, and only the erythro isomer is obtained from (E)-2-butene. These results are in accord with the mechanism that involves intermediacy of the cyclic telluronium ion 37 (Scheme 59).



 σ -Telluranes R₂TeX₂ **38–40** were prepared by the use of reactions of electrophilic addition of phenyltellurium tribromide to the double bond of various alkenes [127–129]. The reactions were performed through short-term heating of a mixture of reactants in hydroxyl-containing solvents. By this method the products of the

reaction contain alkoxy (the solvents are alcohols) or hydroxyl (the solvents are aqueous THF or Bu^tOH [129]) groups at the β -carbon. The alkoxytelluration reaction can also be performed with the use of aryltellurium trichlorides or the PhTeCN/CuCl₂ reagent [127–129]. All types of alkenes are susceptible to the alkoxytelluration reaction (Scheme 60–62) (the yields of compounds **38–40** are 28–100%).



n = 1: Ar = Ph: X = Br: R = Me;^[127, 129] n = 2: Ar = Ph: X = Br: R = Me;^[127-129] Et, Pr^{i,[127, 129]} H^[129] n = 2: X = Cl: R = Me: Ar = Ph;^[127, 129] 4-MeC₆H₄, 4-MeOC₆H₄;^[129] n = 3,4: Ar = Ph: X = Br: R = Me^[128, 129]

SCHEME 60

$$RR^{1}C = CH_{2} + PhTeBr_{3} \xrightarrow{MeOH/\Delta/1h} RR^{1}CCH_{2}Te(Ph)Br_{2}$$

$$OMe$$

$$39$$

$$(127, 128) = (127, 128) = 1, 128 = 1, 28 =$$

 $R^{1} = H: R = Bu,^{[127, 129]} C_{6}H_{13},^{[129]} C_{8}H_{17},^{[127, 129]} Ph;^{[127-129]} R^{1} = Me: R = Me, Pr, Ph^{[129]}$

SCHEME 61

 $RCH = CHR + PhTeBr_3 \xrightarrow{MeOH/\Delta/1h} RHCCHRTe(Ph)Br_2$ OMe 40

 $R = Me^{[127, 129]} Pr^{[128, 129]}$

SCHEME 62

The addition of TeCl₄ and aryltellurium trihalides to double bonds of γ -carboxy, γ - and δ -hydroxyalkenes is accompained by elimination of HX from the initially formed adducts to give tellurium-containing lactones or cyclic ethers. By coupling TeCl₄ with 2,2-diphenyl-4-pentenonic acid, the dichloride **41** was prepared in almost quantitative yield [42] (Scheme 63).



SCHEME 63

Instead of TeCl₄, TeO₂ was employed for the cyclization of γ - and δ -hydroxyalkenes 42. The reaction was carried out in a solution of acetic acid containing LiCl [130] or LiBr [131] and resulted in dialkyltellurium dihalides 43, 44 with a possible inclusion of 45 as the intermediate [130] (Schemes 64, 65).



The compound 43 (n=2) and 44 exist in the conformation 46 whose stability is ensured by the intramolecular coordination between O and Te [130]. (Fig. 3)



Attempts of cyclization of α - and β -hydroxyalkenes were unsuccessful giving rise to products of their oxidation. Thus, a treatment of 3-buten-1-ol with TeO₂ in acetic acid solution containing LiCl led to the triacetate **47** in 43% yield and elemental tellurium [130] (Scheme 66). Allylic alcohol reacts with TeO₂ analogously [130].





It should be mentioned that oxidation of 1,3-butadiene and its analogues in AcOH/ LiBr solution affords mixtures of 1,2- and 1,4-diacetoxyalkenes [131].

These cyclization reactions, involving participance of aryltellurium trichlorides, were first studied with 2,2-diphenyl-4-pentenonic acid [132]. At a later time, the reaction was extended to various other aryltellurium trichlorides and γ -carboxyalkenes [42,133,134]. Refluxing the components in chloroform solution affords aryltellurium dichlorol-acetones **48** in above 80% yields (Scheme 67).



Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄: $R^1 = R^2 = R^3 = R^4 = H$; $R^1 = R^2 = R^3 = H$, $R^4 = Me$; $R^1 = R^2 = H$, $R^3 = R^4 = Me$; $R^1 = R^2 = H$, $R^3 = R^4 = Ph$; $R^1 + R^2 = (CH_2)_2$, $R^3 = R^4 = H$; $R^1 + R^2 = (CH_2)_3$: $R^3 = R^4 = H$, Me; $R^3 = H$, $R^4 = Me$; $^{[133]}R^1 = R^2 = H$, $R^3 = R^4 = Ph$: Ar = Ph, 4-PhOC₆H₄, 1-C₁₀H₇⁴²; 2-C₁₀H₇^[132]

SCHEME 67

Reduction of tellurium dichlorides 48 with NaBH₄ (Scheme 68) restores the initial γ -carboxyalkenes which allows consideration of the process of aryltellurolactonization as a method for protection of unsaturated acids [134].



The σ -telluranes 49–52 were obtained in high yields by coupling aryltellurium trihalides with γ - or δ -hydroxyalkenes [134,135] under conditions similar to those used for preparation of the lactones 48 (Scheme 69, 70, Fig. 4).



R = H: n = 2: X = Cl: Ar = 4-MeC₆H₄, 4-PhOC₆H₄, 4-MeOC₆H₄; X = Br: Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄;

 $R = Me: n = 2: X = Cl: Ar = 4-MeOC_6H_4; R = H: n = 3: X = Cl: Ar = 4-MeOC_6H_4$

SCHEME 69



50 R = H, Me: Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄: X = Cl

SCHEME 70

When β -hydroxyalkenes were entered into the reaction with aryltellurium trihalides instead of their γ - and δ -isomers only the products of addition at a double bond 53



FIGURE 4

were formed in 85-91% yields [135] (Scheme 71) (Fig. 4).



 $A_{f} = 4 - MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4 - PhOC_{6}H_{4}$

SCHEME 71

2.2.3.2. Reactions with Alkynes The addition of tellurium tetrachloride to alkynes under neat conditions gives Z- β -chlorovinylaryltellurium trichlorides [136,137]. However, in severe conditions (refluxing in benzene solution) tellurium tetrachloride reacts with terminal alkynes giving di(β -chlorovinylaryl)tellurium dichlorides 54 in 57–70% yields [138,139] (Scheme 72). In the case of the tellurium tetrabromide reaction a mixture of Z- and E-isomers is obtained (Z: E ratio is 4.5:1 for R=Ph and 3.4:1 for R=C₅H₁₁ [139].)

$$RC \equiv CH + TeX_4 \xrightarrow{C_6H_6/\Delta} (RC \equiv CH)_2 TeX_2$$

$$X$$
54

 $R=Ph : X=Cl, [138] Br; [139] R=C_5H_{11} : X=Br^{[139]}$

SCHEME 72

Long-term refluxing chloroform solutions of aryltellurium trichlorides and alkynes leaves the reactant intact, which leads to the conclusion about the inertness of alkynes in this reaction [136]. In more recent studies [138–142] it was found that refluxing solutions of terminal alkynes with organyltellurium trihalides resulted in regioselective addition of the latter to the triple bond of the alkynes with formation of the alkenes **55** in 60–85% yields [138–142] (Scheme 73).

$$RTeX_{3} + R^{1}C \equiv CH \xrightarrow{\Delta} X \xrightarrow{X} R^{Te(R)X_{2}}$$

$$\begin{split} &X=Cl: R=\!4-MeOC_6H_4: R^1=\!Bu,^{[138]} HOCH_2,^{[138, 140]} C_6H_{11},^{[140]} HO-c-C_6H_{10},^{[140]} \\ &Ph,^{[138, 140]} 4-MeC_6H_4, 4-MeOC_6H_4, 4-EtOC_6H_4, 4-ClC_6H_4,^{[140]} 4-BrC_6H_4,^{[138, 140]} \\ &X=\!Br: R=\!Ph, Bu: R^1=\!HOCH_2, C_5H_{11}, Ph^{[139]} \end{split}$$

SCHEME 73

In the case of the aryltellurium trichlorides reactions, the addition is stereoselective resulting in Z-isomers exclusively [140]. The addition of aryltellurium tribromides to alkynes in benzene solution results in mixtures of Z- and E-isomers (Z:E ratio is 5:1 for R=R¹=Ph and 1:1 for R=Bu, R¹=HOCH₂).

2.2.4. Reaction of Symmetrization of Organyltellurium Trichlorides

Organyltellurium trichlorides can be converted to diorganyltellurium dichlorides with the use of the symmetrization reaction. 2-Chloro-2-phenylvinyltellurium trichloride eliminates $TeCl_4$ when heating its acetic acid or ethanol solutions [136] (Scheme 74).



SCHEME 74

Other organyltellurium trichlorides are not susceptible to such types of spontaneous symmetrization reaction. Aryltellurium trichlorides afford symmetric diaryltellurium dichlorides only in the presence of a catalyst, powdered copper. The reaction occurs on refluxing of a benzene solution of an aryltellurium trichloride with the yields of diaryltellurium dichlorides in the range of 60–70% [143] (Scheme 75).

$$4-\mathrm{RC}_{6}\mathrm{H}_{4}\mathrm{TeCl}_{3} + \mathrm{Cu} \xrightarrow[-\mathrm{TeCl}_{4}]{} (4-\mathrm{RC}_{6}\mathrm{H}_{4})_{2}\mathrm{TeCl}_{2}$$

R = OMe, OEt

SCHEME 75

When carrying out the reaction at higher temperature (refluxing a toluene solution) with an excess of copper, diaryltellurides were obtained as the result of reduction of their dichlorides. Transformation of aryltellurium trichlorides into diaryltellurium dichlorides can also be achieved with the use of organosilicon hydrides [144]. Stirring a 3:4 mixture of the latter with aryltellurium trichlorides for 6–8 h results in formation of diarylditellurides, whereas refluxing a 1:2 mixture of the reactants for 6–10 h affords diaryltellurium dichlorides in 75–95% yields (Scheme 76).

ArTeCl₃ +
$$R_n^1 R_m^2 SiH_{4-(n+m)}$$

-HCl Te + Ar₂TeCl₂ + $R_n^1 R_m^2 SiCl_{4-(n+m)}$
Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC₆H₄, 4-EtOC₆H₄, n = m = 1: $R^1 = R^2 = Ph$, n = 1, m = 2: $R^1 = R^2 = Ph$,
C₆H₁₃, n = 2, m = 1: $R^1 = Ph$, $R^2 = Me$

SCHEME 76

2.3. From Organic Derivatives of Di- and Tricoordinate Tellurium

Preparatively important for the synthesis of the σ -telluranes, R₂TeX₂, are the methods based on the use of diorganyltellurides and ditellurides and π -telluranes as starting materials.

2.3.1. From Diorganylditellurides

Reactions of diorganylditellurides resulting in σ -telluranes, R₂TeX₂, proceed in the majority of cases with elimination of the tellurium atom. This takes place upon interaction between diarylditellurides and tellurium tetrahalides [145] and also upon interaction between diarylditellurides and tellurium trihalides [145] (the yields of diaryltellurium dihalides are 78–95%) (Schemes 77, 78).

$$Ar_{2}Te_{2} + TeX_{4} \xrightarrow{PhMe/\Delta} Ar_{2}TeX_{2} + Te$$

$$Ar = 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}; X = Cl, Br, 1$$

$$SCHEME 77$$

$$PhMe/\Delta$$

 $Ar_2Te_2 + ArTeX_3 \xrightarrow{TIMOUS} Ar_2TeX_2 + Te$ Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄, 4-EtOC₆H₄; X = Cl SCHEME 78

Elimination of the tellurium atom and formation of diorganyltellurium difluorides is also observed upon oxidation of diarylditellurides with SF_4 [146]. The yields of the difluorides exceed 70% (Scheme 79).

 $Ar_2Te_2 + SF_4 \xrightarrow{C_6H_6/\Delta} Ar_2TeF_2$ Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC₆H₄

SCHEME 79

The high halogenophilicity of diarylditellurides allows their employment for the dehalogenation of vicinal dibromides [145]. Refluxing of an equimolar mixture of diarylditellurides and organic dihalides in toluene or acetic acid leads to the (E)-isomers of the corresponding alkenes in 68-90% yields and diaryltellurium dibromides in 75-95% yields. The reaction probably proceeds via an arenetellurenyl bromide intermediate with subsequent disproportionation to a diaryltellurium dibromide and elemental tellurium (Scheme 80).

Treatment of diorganylditellurides with excess methyliodide leads to an equimolar mixture of arylmethyltellurium diiodide 56 and aryldimethyltelluronium iodide

57 [74,147,148]. The first stage of the reaction is probably methylation of the ditelluride leading to the intermediate aryltelluromethylaryltelluronium iodide 58 which decomposes subsequently to an arylmethyl telluride and an arenetellurenyl iodide 60. Subsequent reaction of the compounds formed and the excess of methyliodide gives rise to 56 and 57 as shown in the Scheme 81 (the yields of compounds were not given).



 $Ar = 4 - MeC_6H_4,^{[148]} 4 - MeOC_6H_4,^{[74, 147, 148]} 4 - EtOC_6H_4^{[148]}$

SCHEME 81

The reaction of dibenzylditelluride with bromine in CCl_4 leads to cleavage of both C-Te bonds with formation of benzylbromide and tellurium tetrabromide. When an equivalent amount of bromine is used, elimination of one tellurium atom occurs and dibenzyltellurium dibromide is formed in 72% yield [149] (Scheme 82).

$$C_6H_5CH_2Br + TeBr_4 \xrightarrow{2Br_2} (C_6H_5CH_2)_2Te_2 \xrightarrow{Br_2} (C_6H_5CH_2)_2TeBr_2 + Te$$

SCHEME 82

The reaction of Ar_2Te_2 with anyldiazonium salts is probably a quite promising approach to the synthesis of unsymmetric σ -telluranes $ArAr^{1}TeX_{2}$ 61 [150,151]. Interaction of diphenylditelluride with *p*-bromophenyldiazonium bromide in aqueous acetone gave a high yield of an equimolar mixture of phenyl *p*-bromophenyltelluride and the corresponding Te-dibromide 61 (X=Br) [151] (Scheme 83).

$$Ph_{2}Te_{2} + 2 (4-BrC_{6}H_{4}N_{2}+Br^{-}) \xrightarrow{-N_{2}} PhTeC_{6}H_{4}Br-4 + PhTeBr_{2}C_{6}H_{4}Br-4$$
61

SCHEME 83

This suggests that Ar_2Te_2 are effective one-electron reduction agents for aryldiazonium cations and the following mechanism of the above reaction has been postulated [151] (Scheme 84).

 $Ar_{2}Te_{2} + Ar^{1}N_{2}^{+}X^{-} \longrightarrow Ar^{1*} + ArTe^{*} + ArTeX + N_{2}$ $Ar^{1*} + ArTe^{*} \longrightarrow ArTeAr^{1}$ $ArTeX + Ar^{1}N_{2}^{+}X^{-} \longrightarrow ArTeX_{2}Ar^{1} + N_{2}$

However, this reaction leads to a mixture of two compounds which require separation or the chemical transformation into one certain derivative (by reduction of the dihalide or the oxidation of the telluride) and thus this is inconvenient as a preparative method. As long as the copper(II) salts readily oxidize the tellurides to the corresponding dihalides, the interaction between Ar_2Te_2 and a diazonium salt in the presence of two moles of copper(II) halide produces the corresponding diaryltellurium dihalide as a sole product in good (60–90%) yields [151] (Scheme 85). The availability of the starting materials and the possibility to vary the substituents in both reaction components, as well as the ease with which the dihalides can be transformed to the corresponding tellurides, make this method one of the most suitable for the preparation of unsymmetric diaryltellurides.

$$(R^{1}C_{6}H_{4})_{2}Te_{2} + R^{2}C_{6}H_{4}N_{2}X + Cu \xrightarrow{-N_{2}} R^{1}C_{6}H_{4}TeX_{2}C_{6}H_{4}R^{2}$$

- N₂
- CuX 61
X=Cl: R¹=H: R²=H, 4-OMe, 3-OMe, 4-Me, 3-Me, 2-Me, 4-F, 3-F, 4-Cl, 4-Br;
R¹ = R² = 4-OMe
X = Br: R¹ = H: R² = H, 4-Cl, 4-Br, 3,4-C_{4}H_{4}

SCHEME 85

This reaction has been employed in the synthesis of arylvinyltellurium dichlorides [151] (Scheme 86).

$$(RC_6H_4)_2Te_2 + [PhC(Cl)=CH]_2Te_2 + CuCl_2 \longrightarrow RC_6H_4TeCl_2CH=C(Cl)Ph - N_2 - CuCl$$

R = H (65%), 4-Me (39%)

SCHEME 86

The use of diazonium tetrafluoroborates, instead of chlorides, in the synthesis of nonsymmetric diaryltellurium dihalides allows one to work with lesser volumes of the solutions and to minimize the competing Sandmeyer reaction [151]. The yields of diaryltellurium dihalides are 58–95% (Scheme 87).

 $(R^{1}C_{6}H_{4})_{2}Te_{2} + R^{2}C_{6}H_{4}N_{2}BF_{4} + CuX_{2} \xrightarrow{-N_{2}} R^{1}C_{6}H_{4}TeX_{2}C_{6}H_{4}R^{2} - CuBF_{4}$ 61

X = Cl: $R^1 = 4$ -F: $R^2 = 4$ -Me, 4-OMe, 4-Br X = Br: $R^1 = H$: $R^2 = 2$ -Br

SCHEME 87

2.3.2. From Diorganyltellurides

A good number of diorganyltellurium dihalides has been obtained from the oxidation addition reactions of diorganyltellurides with halogens or their synthetic equivalents [18,39,40,44,49,52,56,79,82,84,136,149,152–217] (Scheme 88). This method is of special importance for the preparation of tellurium dibromides and diiodides that are less accessible from other methods. The reactions are usually performed in benzene, methylene chloride, chloroform or tetrachloromethane solutions. The formed diorganyltellurium dihalides precipitate from these solutions in a sufficiently pure state. Due to the exothermic character of these reactions external cooling is required when dealing with large amounts of the reactants. With fluorine the reactions are performed with mixing under an excess of an inert gas at -70 to -80° C [194].

 $R^{1} = Ph. R^{2} = Et_{1}^{[199]} c-C_{6}H_{11}, {}^{[181]} CH_{2}CH_{2}OMe, CH_{2}CH_{2}OEt_{3}, {}^{[199]} 4-ClC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[183]} 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[160]} 14-MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[161]} 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[182]} 4-PhOC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[183]} 4-PhOC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[141]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[44]} 2-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[44]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} 2-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} 2-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} 2-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} 2-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} 1-C_{10}H_{7}, {}^{[14]} C_{11}H_{12}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, Ph(CH_{$

 $R^1 = 3-FC_6H_4$, $4-FC_6H_4$: $R^2 = Me^{[186]}$

 $R^1 = 4-C!C_6H_4$: $R^2 = 4-Me_2NC_6H_4^{[185]}$

 $R^{1} = 4-BrC_{6}H_{4}$; $R^{2} = Me_{1}^{[180]} 4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[185]}$

 $R^1 = 3-BrC_6H_4$: $R^2 = 4-Me_2NC_6H_4^{[185]}$

 $R^{1} = 3 - O_2 N C_6 H_4$; $R^{2} = 4 - M e_2 N C_6 H_4^{[185, 187]}$

 $R^1 = 4-MeC_6H_4$. $R^2 = Me$,^[180] CH_2CH_2OMe , CH_2-CH_2OEt ,^[199] $c-C_6H_{11}$,^[181] 4-Me₂NC₆H₄^[185, 187]

 $R^1 = 3 - MeC_6H_4$: $R^2 = 4 - Me_2NC_6H_4^{[187]}$

 $R^1 = 2 - MeC_6H_4$: $R^2 = Me^{[211]}$

 $R^{1} = 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}$: $R^{2} = Et$, $PhCH_{2}$;^[49] $4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}$;^[185] $1-C_{10}H_{7}$; $2-C_{10}H_{7}$ ^[44]

 $R^1 = 2$ -HOCC₆H₄: $R^2 = Bu$, $Me^{[211]}$

$$R^1 = 2$$
-HOCH₂C₆H₄: $R^2 = Bu^{[203]}$

 $R^{1} = 2$ -MeCOPh : $R^{2} = Me^{[212]}$

 $R^1 = 2-EtO_2CC_6H_4$: $R=Bu^{[211]}$

 $R^{1} = 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}$: $R^{2} = c-C_{6}H_{11}$,^[181] $4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}$,^[125] $1-C_{10}H_{7}$,^[175] $2-PhN=NC_{6}H_{4}$,^[52]

 $R^{1} = 2 - Me_2 NCH_2 C_6 H_4$: $R^{2} = Me_2 Et_1 Bu^{[56]}$

 $R^{1} = 4$ -PhOC₆H₄: $R^{2} = 4$ -Me₂NC₆H₄; ^[185] 1-C₁₀H₇, 2-C₁₀H₇^[44]

 $R^{1} = 2 - C_{10}H_{7}$; $R^{2} = Et_{1}^{[174]} c - C_{6}H_{11}^{[49, 174]} 1 - C_{10}H_{7}^{[44]}$

 $R^1 = 2$ -formylcyclohexene-1-yl-1: $R^2 = Me^{[209]}$

 $X = Br_1 R^1 = R^2 = CF_3$, [196] $CH_2 = CH$, [188] $CH_2 CH_2 CN$, [176] $2 - C_4 H_3 S$, [169] $C_6 F_5$, [216] 4-BrC₆H₄, ^[39, 79, 161] 3-BrC₆H₄, ^[79] 4-ClC₆H₄, ^[79, 161, 214] 3-ClC₆H₄, ^[79] 4-FC₆H₄, ^[79] Ph, ^[40, 79, 152, 167, 168, 10] ^{190, 207, 216]} 4-MeC₆H₄, ^[79, 152, 153, 155, 216] 3-MeC₆H₄, ^[79, 158] 2-MeC₆H₄, ^[153, 155, 167, 216] PhCH₂, ^[149, 216] $4-\text{MeOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[39, 73, 79, 159, 216]}{} 3-\text{MeOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[165, 190]}{} 2-\text{MeOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[166]}{} 4-\text{EtOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \stackrel{[79, 82, 164]}{}$ $2-\text{EtOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}$, ^[162] 2, 4-Me₂C₆H₃, ^[156] 2, 5-Me₂C₆H₃, ^[156] 2, 6-Me₂C₆H₃, ^[208] 4-Me₂NC₆H₄, ^[79,185,187] $2,4,6-Me_{3}C_{6}H_{2}$,^[157] $4-Me_{2}CHC_{6}H_{4}$,^[192] $1-C_{10}H_{7}$,^[154, 163]

4-MeOC₆H₄,^[44] 4-EtOC₆H₄,^[181] 4-Me₂NC₆H₄;^[79, 185] 4-PhOC₆H₄, 1-C₁₀H₇, 2-C₁₀H₇;^[44] C₁₁H₂₃,

 $R^1 = Bu : R^2 = PhC = C, C_5 H_{11}C = C^{[201]}$

 $R^1 = 4-BrC_6H_4$: $R^2 = 4-Me_2NC_6H_4^{[79, 185]}$

 $R^{1} = 4-ClC_{6}H_{4}$: $R^{2} = 4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[185]}$

$$R^{1} = 3 - BrC_{6}H_{4}$$
; $R^{2} = 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[185]}$
 $R^{1} = 2 - FC_{6}H_{4}$; $R^{2} = Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[186]}$

$$P^{1} = 3 - FC_{1}H_{1} + A_{2}FC_{2}H_{1} + P^{2} = Mo^{[186]}$$

$$R^{1} = 3 - FC_{6}H_{4}, 4 - FC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} = M$$

 $R^{1} = Rh_{1}, R^{2} = M_{2}$ [190] R_{2} [180, 182]

 $R^1 = 2$ -OHCC₆H₄: $R^2 = Bu^{[202, 210]}$

$$R^{1} = Ph: R^{2} = Me, ^{[190]} Bu, ^{[180, 182]} CH_{2}CH_{2}CO_{2}H, ^{[198]} 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, ^{[160, 181]} 2-MeC_{6}H_{4}, ^{[167]}$$

 $R^{1} = 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}$: $R^{2} = CH_{2}CH_{2}CO_{2}H_{4}$ [198] $4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}$ [187]

C12H25, C14H29, C16H33, Ph(CH2)2, Ph(CH2)3, C12H25CHMe^[215]

 $R^1 = 2$ -OHCH₂C₆H₄: $R^2 = Bu^{[202, 203]}$ $R^{1} = 2,6-Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3}$: $R^{2} = 2,4,6-Me_{3}C_{6}H_{2}^{[208]}$ $R^{1} = 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}$: $R^{2} = CH_{2}CH_{2}CO_{2}H_{4}^{[198]} 4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[185]} 2-PhN=NC_{6}H_{4}^{[52]}$

 $R^{1} = 4 - MeOC_{6}H_{4}$; $R^{2} = Et_{2}^{[49]} 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}$; $[79, 185] 1 - C_{10}H_{7}$; $2 - C_{10}H_{7}^{[44]}$

 $R^1 = 2 - C_4 H_3 S - 3 - (2 - pyridyl)$: $R^2 = Me^{[200]}$

 $R^1 = 2 - Me_2 NCH(Me)C_6H_4$: $R^2 = Me^{[205]}$

 $R^{1} = 4$ -PhOC₆H₄: $R^{2} = 4$ -Me₂NC₆H₄: [185] 1-C₁₀H₇, 2-C₁₀H₇

 $R^{1} = 2 - C_{10}H_{7}$; $R^{2} = Et_{*}^{[174]} c - C_{6}H_{11}$, $[49] 1 - C_{10}H_{7}^{[44]}$

 $R^{1} = 2-(4-PhC_{6}H_{4}CONH)C_{6}H_{4}$: $R^{2} = Bu^{[204]}$

 $R^{1}=2-R^{3}C_{6}H_{4}NHN=CHC_{6}H_{4}$ ($R^{3}=H, 2, 4-(NO)_{2}$) : $R^{2}=Bu^{[217]}$

 $R^{1} = 4-BrC_{6}H_{4}CH = CHCHO; R^{2} = Me^{[213]}$

 $R^{1} = 2$ -formylcyclohexen-1-yl-1: $R^{2} = Me^{[209, 213]}$

 $X = I: R^{1} = R^{2} = Me_{,}^{[172]} Bu_{,}^{[170]} C_{5}H_{11},^{[171]} 2-C_{4}H_{3}S_{,}^{[169]} C_{16}H_{33},^{[206]} 4-BrC_{6}H_{4},^{[39, 79]}$ $4-C|C_{6}H_{4},^{[79, 214]} 4-MeC_{6}H_{4},^{[79, 214, 216]} 3-MeC_{6}H_{4},^{[158]} 2-MeC_{6}H_{4},^{[216]} 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4},^{[79, 159, 187, 206, 214]} 1-MeC_{6}H_{4},^{[79, 179, 187, 206, 214]} 1-MeC_{6}H_{4},^{[79, 187, 206, 214]} 1-MeC_{6}H_$ $3-MeOC_6H_4$,^[165] $2-MeOC_6H_4$,^[166] $2,4-Me_2C_6H_3$,^[156] $2,5-Me_2C_6H_3$,^[156] PhC(Cl)=CH,^[136] 4-EtOC₆H₄, ^[79, 82, 164] 2-EtOC₆H₄, ^[162] 4-Me₂NC₆H₄, ^[79] 2, 4, 6-Me₃C₆H₂, ^[157] 1-C₁₀H₇, ^[163]

 $R^{1} = 4-BrC_{6}H_{4}$; $R^{2} = 4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[79, 185]}$

$$\begin{split} R^{1} &= 3 - BrC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - ClC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}^{[185]} \\ R^{1} &= 3 - FC_{6}H_{4}, 4 - FC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= Me^{[186]} \\ R^{1} &= 2 - H_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= Bu^{[204]} \\ R^{1} &= Ph; R^{2} &= Me; [^{182]} Et, Pr, Pr^{i}, Bu, C_{14}H_{29}; [^{182]} 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, [^{160]} 2 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, [^{167]} \\ 4 - MeOC_{6}H_{4}, [^{144]} 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{79, 185]} 4 - PhOC_{6}H_{4}, [^{144]} 1 - C_{10}H_{7}, 2 - C_{10}H_{7}; [^{144]} C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, \\ C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_{2})_{2}, Ph(CH_{2})_{3}, C_{12}H_{25}CHMe^{[215]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= Et_{1}^{[49]} 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{179, 84, 185]} 1 - C_{10}H_{7}, 2 - C_{10}H_{7}, [^{44]} \\ R^{1} &= 2 - OHCH_{2}C_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= Bu^{[203]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{184, 185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= Bu^{[203]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{84, 185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{84, 185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{84, 185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{84, 185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, [^{84, 185]} \\ R^{1} &= 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; R^{2} &= 4 - MeOC_{6}H_{4}, [^{84, 185]} \\ R^{1} &= 1 - C_{10}H_{7}; R^{2} &= 2 - C_{10}H_{7}, 4 - PhOC_{6}H_{4}, [^{44]} \\ R^{1} &= 2 - C_{10}H_{7}; R^{2} &= Et_{7}, [^{174}] c - C_{6}H_{11}, [^{49]} 4 - PhOC_{6}H_{4}, [^{44]} \\ R^{1} &= 2 - formylcyclohexen - 1 - yl - 1; R^{2} &= Me^{[209]} \end{split}$$

SCHEME 88

The kinetics of the oxidation-addition reactions of bromine [207] and iodine [206] with diorganyl tellurides was studied and the mechanism of the reactions was found to be represented by a three-step process. The rapidly formed charge-transfer complex A converts to the products through elimination-addition of a bromide anion [207] (Scheme 89).

$$R_{2}Te + Br_{2} \xrightarrow{fast} R_{2}Te - Br_{2} \xrightarrow{} R_{r_{1}} \xrightarrow{R_{r_{1}}} R_{r_{1}} \xrightarrow{} R$$

SCHEME 89

With iodine, the reaction mechanism is more complicated [206]. The η^1 -type complexes R₂Te-I₂ and R₂Te-I₄ formed at the first stage of the reaction dissociate to give telluronium intermediates which then add an iodide anion and convert to diorganyltellurium diiodides. Both reactions are accelerated with an increase in the solvent polarity, consistent with partial charge separation in both processes [206] (Scheme 90).

 $R_{2}Te + I_{2} = R_{2}Te...I-I$ $R_{2}Te...I-I + I_{2} = R_{2}Te-I...I-I-I$ $R_{2}Te-I...I-I-I = products$

Diorganyltellurides with two tellurium atoms undergo oxidation-addition reactions with halogens in which both telluriums participate to give the σ -telluranes 62 in 72–98% yields [218–220] (Scheme 91).

RTe-A-TeR +
$$X_2$$

 $X_2(R)$ Te-A-Te(R) X_2
 62
 $A = CH_2: R = Me, Ph: X = Cl, Br, I^{[218]}$
 $A = p-C_6H_4-p: R = Me: X = Br; R = Et: X = Cl^{[219]}$
 $A = o-C_6H_4-o: X = Cl: R = Me, Et, Bu^{[220]}$

SCHEME 91

Instead of gaseous chlorine, sulfuryl chloride [44,49,56,79,173,174,181,185,186,189, 191,193,201,216] and, more rarely, thionyl chloride [18,44] have been employed for the preparation of tellurium dichlorides. For the synthesis of tellurium dibromides [84] and tellurium difluorides [195], one can use sulfuryl bromide and XeF₂, respectively. CIF is less preferable as a fluorinating agent. The interaction of this compound with di(perfluoroethyl)telluride does not lead to pure $(C_2F_5)_2TeF_2$ as it was mistakenly noted [221], but to a mixture of the latter compound with $(C_2F_5)TeCl_2$ [195]. In some cases the oxidation-addition reactions are accompanied by fission of a Te-C bond. This is the case, for instance, in the reaction of arylbenzyl-tellurides with halogens and SO₂Cl₂ in which one benzyl group is expended with the formation of benzylhalide [49] (Scheme 92) (the yields of reaction products are not given). At the same time the reaction of dibenzyltelluride with bromine in tetrachloromethane solution affords dibenzyltellurium dibromide [149,216].

$$ArTeCH_2Ph + X_2(SO_2Cl_2) \longrightarrow ArTeX_3 + PhCH_2X$$

Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄, 2-C₁₀H₇; X=Cl, Br, I
SCHEME 92

Other examples of reactions of arylalkyltellurides accompanied by scission of Te–C bonds under the action of halogens or SO_2Cl_2 resulting in aryltellurenyl halides pertain to the compounds with intramolecular coordination $N(O) \rightarrow$ Te bonds. This chemistry has been reviewed recently [222].

Reactions of diorganyltellurides with metal halides lead, depending on the nature of metal and reaction conditions, to either adducts of the components or diorganyltellurium dihalides. These reactions have been reviewed previously [223]. Thus, on heating in a sealed ampule an acetic acid solution of di(4-methylphenyl)telluride containing Fe(III), Cu(II) or Hg(II) chlorides, di(4-methylphenyl)tellurium dichloride was formed in high yields [224]. When hydrates of these salts, e.g. FeCl₃. 6H₂O, were used in these reactions *bis*(diarylchlorotellurium) oxide [(Ar₂TeCl₂)₂O] was formed as the result of hydrolysis of the tellurium dichloride [224]. Heating water–acetone solutions of diaryltellurides with Cu(II) halides affords diaryltellurium dihalides in almost

quantitative yields [151] (Scheme 93).

$$Ar_2Te + CuX_2 \xrightarrow{H_2O/Me_2CO/\Delta} Ar_2TeX_2$$

X = Cl, Br: Ar = 4-MeC₆H₄

SCHEME 93

On oxidation of diethyltelluride with $CuCl_2$ a 1:1 complex formed by the telluride and CuCl was isolated along with diethyltellurium dichloride [225] (the yields were not given) (Scheme 94).

> $Et_2Te + CuCl_2 \xrightarrow{EtOH/\Delta} Et_2TeCl_2 + Et_2TeCuCl$ SCHEME 94

Diaryltellurium difluorides were obtained by oxidation-addition reactions of fluorine with diaryltellurides and by exchange reactions between diaryltellurides and *tris*(4-methylphenyl)bismuth difluoride [226–228] (Scheme 95) (the yields were not given).

 $Ar_{2}Te + (4-MeC_{6}H_{4})_{3}BiF_{2} \longrightarrow Ar_{2}TeF_{2}$ $Ar = 4-MeC_{6}H_{4},^{[226]} 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4},^{[227]} 1-C_{10}H_{7},^{[228]}$ SCHEME 95

The reaction with the triarylbismuth difluoride has no preparative significance. The most convenient method for preparation of diaryltellurium difluorides consists of passing gaseous sulfur tetrafluoride through boiling benzene solutions of diaryltellurides (the yields are 87–92%) [146] (Scheme 96).

 $Ar_2Te + SF_4 \xrightarrow{C_6H_6/\Delta} Ar_2TeF_2$ Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC₆H₄

SCHEME 96

The considerable ability of tellurides to add halogens with formation σ -telluranes of the type R₂TeX₂ allows their use as dehalogenation agents in the synthesis of alkenes from the appropriate organic dihalides. Vicinal [229–231] and geminal [232] dibromides have been converted to the corresponding alkenes in quite high yields by treatment with diaryltellurides [229,231] (Scheme 97) or with their cyclic analog

$$R^{1}CH - CHR^{2} + Ar^{1}TeAr^{2} - R^{1}CH = CHR^{2} + Ar^{1}TeBr_{2}Ar^{2}$$

Br Br

$$R^{1}=R^{2}=Ph^{[229, 231]}$$

$$R^{1}=R^{2}=cholesterol^{[229]}$$

$$R^{1}=Ph : R^{2}=CO_{2}H,^{[229]}CO_{2}Et,^{[231]}COPh,^{[231]} 4-pyridyl^{[231]}$$

$$Ar^{1}=Ar^{2}=Ph,^{[229]} 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}^{[231]}$$

$$Ar^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, Ar^{2}=1-C_{10}H_{7}, 2-C_{10}H_{7}^{[229]}$$

SCHEME 97

The possibility to use catalytic amounts of diaryltellurides [231] (5 mol% of quantity of halogenated substrate in the case of *bis*(4-methoxyphenyl)telluride) is of special interest in preparative respects. Such processes have been carried out in two-phase systems (benzene-water) and the tellurium dibromide formed was regenerated to telluride with potassium metabisulfite which itself was unable to reduce vicinal dibromides. Scheme 98 illustrates this procedure.



The rate of the debromination reactions of vicinal dibromides is a function of the electronic demands of diaryltellurides. Thus the debromination reactions of 1,2-dibromo-1,2-diphenylethane with $(4-RC_6H_4)_2$ Te (R=Cl, H, OMe, NMe₂) in refluxing chloroform have half-lives of 120, 15, 9 and 2 h, respectively [214]. In this way the more electron-rich diaryltellurides result in faster debromination.

Oxidation-addition reactions can be also applied for the synthesis of σ -telluranes of the type R₂TeX₂ in which X \neq halogen. Thus diaryltellurium diisothiocyanates were obtained in 70–100% yields by oxidative addition of rhodane to diaryltellurides
[233–237] (Scheme 99).

 $R^{1}C_{6}H_{4}TeC_{6}H_{4}R^{2} + (SCN)_{2} \longrightarrow R^{1}C_{6}H_{4}TeC_{6}H_{4}R^{2}$ $R^{1}C_{6}H_{4}TeC_{6}H_{4}R^{2}$ $R^{1} = R^{2} = H, [^{233}, ^{235-237]} 4-Me, [^{233]} 4-OMe, [^{233}, ^{235-237]} 4-OEt, [^{235}, ^{236]} 4-Br^{[233]}$ $R^{1} = H: R^{2} = 3-F, 4-F^{[234]}$

SCHEME 99

Diaryltellurium mixed halides and halide/pseudohalides **63** were obtained in 80–100% yields by oxidative addition reactions of diaryltellurides with iodine monohalides and cyanogen halides, correspondingly [237] (Scheme 100).

$$Ar_2Te + XY \xrightarrow{ether/5 \ ^0C} Ar_2Te \xrightarrow{X} G3$$

Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC₆H₄; X = I: Y = Cl, Br, CN; X = Br, Y = CN

SCHEME 100

The oxidation of diorganyltellurides with lead tetraacetate at room temperature leads to diorganyl tellurium diacetates **64** in 90–98% yields [18,238,239] (Scheme 101).

 $R^{1}R^{2}Te + Pb(OAc)_{4} \xrightarrow{Pb(OAc)_{2}} R^{1}R^{2}Te(OAc)_{2}$

 $R^{1}=R^{2}=Ph;^{[238, 239]}C_{6}F_{5}, 4-MeC_{6}H_{4};^{[238]} 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4};^{[238, 239]}C_{16}H_{33};^{[18]}$ $R^{1}=Ph, R^{2}=4-EtOC_{6}H_{4};^{[239]}$

SCHEME 101

Interaction between diaryltellurides, carboxylic acid and hydrogen peroxide in chloroform provides a convenient synthetic route to diaryltellurium dicarboxylates of the type 64 containing various acyloxy groups in 82–92% yields [240] (Scheme 102). The reaction proceeds via formation of a diaryltelluroxide intermediate. It is known [18,187,241–244] that interaction between telluroxides and carboxylic acids gives rise to σ -telluranes Ar₂Te(OCOR)₂.

Ar₂Te + H₂O₂
$$\longrightarrow$$
 [Ar₂Te=O] $\xrightarrow{\text{RCOOH}}$ Ar₂Te(OCOR)₂
-H₂O 64

Ar=Ph : R=Me, CH₂Cl, Ph; Ar=4-MeC₆H₄ : R=Me, Ph; Ar=4-MeOC₆H₄ : R=CH₂Cl

Undoubtedly telluroxides are also intermediates in the reaction of tellurides with benzoyl peroxide leading to diorganyltellurium dibenzoates [170,171] (Scheme 103). The preparation of diaryl tellurium dicarboxylates **64** starting from diaryltelluroxides and carboxylic acid anhydrides [18,208,241,242,245] confirms this assumption.

$$R^{1}TeR^{2} + (PhCOO)_{2} \xrightarrow{(PhCO)_{2}O} [R^{1}(R^{2})Te=O] \xrightarrow{(PhCO)_{2}O} R^{1}(R^{2})Te(OCOPh)_{2}$$

$$64$$

$$R^{1}=Bu : R^{2}=CH_{2}CO_{2}-1-menthyl, [170] R^{1}=C_{5}H_{11} : R^{2}=CH_{2}CO_{2}Et^{[171]}$$

$$SCHEME 103$$

However, the reaction of tellurides with an equivalent amount of *m*-chloroperoxybenzoic acid gave σ -tellurane 65 [246] (Scheme 104). In this case the initially formed telluroxide reacts with one equivalent of carboxylic acid, formed in the oxidation of the telluride, to give the σ -tellurane 65 (the yield was not given).

$$R^{T} e^{R^{2}} \xrightarrow{m-ClC_{6}H_{4}CO_{3}H} \begin{bmatrix} R^{T} e^{R^{2}} \\ \| \\ O \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{m-ClC_{6}H_{4}CO_{2}H} \begin{bmatrix} R^{T} e^{R^{2}} \\ \| \\ O \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{m-ClC_{6}H_{4}CO_{2}H} R^{1}R^{2}Te^{R^{2}}$$

$$R^{1} = Ph, R^{2} = c-C_{6}H_{13}$$

SCHEME 104

The representative of another type of mixed σ -telluranes, namely, di(4-methoxyphenyl)(3,5-dinitrobenzoyloxy)tellurium chloride **66** was obtained by the oxidationaddition reaction of 3,5-dinitrobenzoyl chloride to di(4-methoxyphenyl)telluride (the yield was not given) [247] (Scheme 105). Benzoyl chloride does not enter this type of reaction.

$$Ar_{2}Te + RCOCI \xrightarrow{CH_{2}CL_{2}/\Delta/5h} Ar_{2}Te$$

Cl
66

Ar=4-MeOC₆H₄, R=3,5-(NO₂)₂C₆H₃

SCHEME 105

A "telluroxide" intermediate can also explain the results of the reactions between tellurides and dilute nitric acid that lead to diorganyltellurium dinitrates [248] (also referred to as diorganyl tellurium hydroxynitrates R_2 Te(OH)(ONO₂) [170]) (Scheme 106).

 $R_2Te + HONO_2 \longrightarrow R_2Te(ONO_2)_2$

R=Ph, 4-MeC₆H₄

The oxidation-addition reactions can also be applied to the synthesis of diorganyltellurium dithiocarbamates 67. Thus, dimethyltellurium dithiocarbamates were obtained in yields 85–93% by coupling of dimethyltelluride and thiuram disulfides [249] (Scheme 107).

$$Me_{2}Te + [R_{2}NC(S)S]_{2} \xrightarrow{CHCl_{3}/0-23^{\circ}C} Me_{2}Te[SC(S)NR_{2}]_{2}$$

$$\Delta \qquad 67$$

R=Me, Et, Prⁱ, Ph

SCHEME 107

2.3.3. From π -Telluranes

 σ -Telluranes of the type R₂TeX₂ where X=Hal or OCOR may be obtained starting from π -telluranes (telluronium ylides, imides and oxides).

The reaction of diorganyltelluroxides with protonic acids containing sufficiently nucleophilic anions (HHal, RCOOH) is an important method for preparation of diorganyltellurium dicarboxylates (the yields are 56–98% [18,187,241–244]) (Scheme 108).

 $Ar_2TeO + RCOOH \xrightarrow{-H_2O} Ar_2Te(OCOR)_2$ 64

 $\begin{aligned} & \text{Ar=Ph}: \text{R=H}, ^{[242-244]} \text{CCl}_3, ^{[187, 244]} \text{Me, Pr}^i, \text{Bu}^i, \text{CH}_2\text{Ph}, ^{[242]} \text{Ph}, ^{[187, 242]} \text{4-BrC}_6\text{H}_4 ^{[187]} \\ & \text{Ar=4-MeC}_6\text{H}_4: \text{R=H}, ^{[243, 244]} \text{CCl}_3 ^{[241]} \\ & \text{Ar=4-MeOC}_6\text{H}_4: \text{R=H}, ^{[243, 244]} \text{CCl}_3, ^{[241, 244]} \text{Me}, ^{[241]} 2, 4-(\text{HO})_2\text{C}_6\text{H}_3 ^{[187]} \\ & \text{Ar=4-EtOC}_6\text{H}_4: \text{R=Me}^{[187]} \\ & \text{Ar=4-Me}_2\text{NC}_6\text{H}_4: \text{R=H}, ^{[243, 244]} \text{CCl}_3 ^{[244]} \end{aligned}$

SCHEME 108

The interaction of diaryltelluroxides with β -mercaptopropionic acid leads to cyclic compounds **68** [18] (Scheme 109) (the yields were not given) although simple mercaptans RSH (R=4-MeC₆H₄, 4-MeC₆H₄CH₂) are oxidized into disulfides under the action of diaryltelluroxides [250].



Ar=Ph, 4-EtOC₆H₄

SCHEME 109

Reaction of diaryltelluroxides with carboxylic acids in 1:1 molar ratio gives σ -telluranes of the type 65 [241] (see also Section 2.3.2). A two-stage mechanism for the formation of diaryltellurium dicarboxylates **64** via the diaryltellurium oxides **65** is proposed (Scheme 110).



SCHEME 110

Diorganyltelluronium ylides [187,251,252] and diorganyltellurimides [253,254] react with protonic acids (molar ratio 1:2) with cleavage of Te=C and Te=N bonds, respectively, forming σ -telluranes R₂TeX₂ in nearly quantitative yields (Scheme 111).

 $\begin{array}{r} Ar(R)Te^{+}-XR^{1} + 2HY \xrightarrow{-R^{1}XH_{2}} Ar(R)TeY_{2} \\ XR^{1}=CC(0)CH_{2}CMe_{2}CH_{2}CO: Y=F: Ar=R=Ph^{252}; 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}^{187}; 4-ClC_{6}H_{4}, 4-BrC_{6}H_{4}; \\ R=Me, Ar=3-FC_{6}H_{4}, 4-FC_{6}H_{4}; ^{[252]}Y=C1: Ar=R=Ph, 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, ^{[251]} 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}; ^{[251, 252]} \\ R=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, Ar=4-Pr^{1}C_{6}H_{4}, PhCH_{2}; ^{[251]}R=Me, Ar=4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, ^{[252]}Y=Br: Ar=R, Ph, \\ 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}; R=Me, Ar=4-MeC_{6}H_{4}; ^{[252]}Y=I, R=Ar=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}^{[252]} \\ XR^{1}=NSO_{2}C_{6}H_{4}Me-4, NC(O)CF_{3}: Y=CI, O_{2}CMe: Ar=R=Ph, 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}^{[253, 254]} \\ \end{array}$

SCHEME 111

 π -Telluranes of all types react easily with carboxylic acid anhydrides to give diorganyl tellurium dicarboxylates **64**. In the case of diorganyltelluroxides the reaction occurs very rapidly even in nonpolar solvents (benzene, chloroform, CCl₄) and the yields are nearly quantitative [208,241,242,245] (Scheme 112).

 $Ar^{1}Ar^{2}TeO + (RCO)_{2}O \longrightarrow Ar^{1}Ar^{2}Te(OCOR)_{2} \xrightarrow{64}$ $Ar^{1}=Ar^{2}=Ph: \dot{R}=Me, \stackrel{[241, 242]}{Pr}, \stackrel{[242]}{r}, \stackrel{[242]}{CH_{2}Cl}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ph}, \stackrel{[242]}{Pr}, \stackrel{[242]}{Ar^{1}=Ar^{2}=4-MeC_{6}H_{4}: R=Me, Pr, CH_{2}Cl, Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ar^{1}=Ar^{2}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}: R=Me, Pr, Ph}, \stackrel{[241, 245]}{CH_{2}Cl, CF_{3}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ar^{1}=Ar^{2}=4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}: R=Me, Pr, CH_{2}Cl, Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ar^{1}=Ar^{2}=4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}: R=Me, Pr, CH_{2}Cl, Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ph}, \stackrel{[241]}{Ar^{1}=Ar^{2}=2, 6-Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3}: R=Me, CF_{3}, \stackrel{[208]}{Pr}, \stackrel{[208]}{Ar^{1}=2, 6-Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3}, Ar^{2}=2, 4, 6-Me_{3}C_{6}H_{2}: R=Me, CF_{3}, Et, Bu^{t}, \stackrel{[208]}{Pr}, \stackrel{[208]}{Pr}$

The cyclic σ -telluranes 69 are the products of the reaction diaryltelluroxides and dicarboxylic acid anhydrides [18,242] (the yields according to [242] are 93–98%) (Scheme 113).



Ar=Ph : X-Y= CH=CH;
$$^{[18]}$$
 o(CH₂)₂-C₆H₄; $^{[242]}$ Ar=4-EtOC₆H₄ : X-Y = CH=CH^[18]

SCHEME 113

Diphenyltelluroxide also reacts with sulfonic acid anhydrides to give di(p-toluenesulfonate) 70 in 71% yield [242] (Scheme 114).

$$Ph_2TeO + (4-MeC_6H_4SO_2)_2O \longrightarrow Ph_2Te(OSO_2C_6H_4Me-4)_2$$

70

SCHEME 114

Diaryltellurimides react with acetic anhydride to give diaryltellurium dicarboxylates 64 (the yields are 50–60%) and N,N-diacyl amides which during the work-up of the reaction mixtures are hydrolyzed to monoacetyl derivatives [253] (Scheme 115).

 $\operatorname{Ar_2Te}^+$ $\operatorname{N}^+ R + 2\operatorname{Me}(\operatorname{CO})_2 O \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ar_2Te}(\operatorname{OCOMe})_2 + \operatorname{RN}(\operatorname{COMe})_2$ 64

Ar=4-MeOC₆H₄ : R=4-MeC₆H₄SO₂, CF₃C(O)

SCHEME 115

Interaction between tellurimides and acyl chlorides also proceeds via cleavage of the Te-N bond resulting in the formation of diaryltellurium dichlorides (the yields are 70-85%) [253] (Scheme 116).

 $Ar_2Te - NR + 2MeCOCl - Ar_2TeCl_2 + RN(COMe)_2$ $Ar=4-MeOC_6H_4 : R=4-MeC_6H_4SO_2, CF_3C(O)$ SCHEME 116

Halogens cleave Te-C bonds in telluronium dimedone ylides [251,252] and Te-N bonds in tellurimides [253,254] under very mild conditions. σ -Telluranes (the yields

are 60-70%) and dihalide derivatives of dimedone or amides are the products of these reactions (Scheme 117).

 $Ar(R)Te^+ XR^1 + 2Y_2 \xrightarrow{-R^1XY_2} Ar(R)TeY_2$

 $XR^{1}=CC(O)CH_{2}CMe_{2}CH_{2}CO: Ar=R=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}; Y=Cl, Br, I;$

Ar=R=4-MeC₆H₄, Y=Cl; Ar=R=Ph, Y=Cl, Br; Ar=4-MeC₆H₄, R=Me, Y=Cl, Br; $^{[251, 252]}$ XR¹=NSO₂C₆H₄Me-4, NC(O)CF₃ : Ar=R=Ph, Y=Cl^[253, 254]

SCHEME 117

In contrast, doubly stabilized sulfonium ylides react with halogens to give dihalide derivatives of the carbanionic moieties of the molecules and sulfides [255].

Diaryltellurium dihalides as well as σ -telluranes of the types 71 and 72 may be prepared using diaryltelluroxides as starting materials. Thus, heating of the latter with a large excess of methyliodide in a sealed tube results in diaryltellurium diiodides in 80–90% yields, probably via the intermediates 73 [192, 256]. Diaryltellurides were isolated as the minor products of these reactions. A possible mechanism for the formation of diaryltellurium diiodides is represented in Scheme 118.

$$Ar_{2}TeO + MeI \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} OMe \\ Ar_{2}Te \\ I \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\Delta} Ar_{2}Te - O - TeAr_{2} \xrightarrow{\Delta} Ar_{2}TeI_{2} + Ar_{2}TeO \xrightarrow{MeI} \cdots$$

$$73 \qquad 71$$

Ar=Ph, 4-MeC₆H₄, 4MeOC₆H₄

SCHEME 118

A specific method for the preparation of *bis*(diarylhalotellurium) oxides 71, which has no analogy in the chemistry of diarylsulfoxides and diarylselenoxides, is based on the reaction of diaryl telluroxides with diaryltellurium dihalides or carboxylates. The reaction may involve the intermediate pertellurane 74; the yields of 71 are near to quantitative [257] (Scheme 119).

$$Ph_{2}TeX_{2} + Ph_{2}TeO \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} X \\ Ph_{2}Te - O - Te^{\dagger}Ph_{2} \\ X & J \end{bmatrix} \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} Ph_{2}Te & O \\ Ph_{2}Te & X \\ X & X \end{bmatrix}$$

X=F, Cl, Br, OCOMe

Compounds of the type 71 were also obtained in high yields by the reaction of diaryl telluroxides with trimethylsulfoxonium iodide [192,258] (Scheme 120).

$$Ar_{2}TeO + (Me_{3}S^{+}O)I^{-} \xrightarrow{MeCN/H_{2}O/\Delta} \left[Ar_{2}Te \right] \xrightarrow{MeOH} 71$$

$$73$$

Ar=Ph, 4-MeC₆H₄

SCHEME 120

Structurally similar to 71, the σ -tellurane 72 was obtained in a mixture with 75 from the reaction of diphenyltelluroxide with trimethylsilyl azide. Under heating at 100°C in vacuo 75 rearranged to 72 (in 92% yield) (Scheme 121) which exhibits surprising thermal stability (no decomposition up to 200°C) [259]. As stems from an X-ray study of 72 a possible reason for such enhanced thermal stability is the occurrence of secondary Te...N bonds in the crystals of 72 which provide for pseudo-octahedral coordination of the tellurium [259].



SCHEME 121

Another type of σ -telluranes, *bis*(diarylalkoxytellurium)sulfates **76**, have been obtained in 90–95% yields by coupling diaryltelluroxides with diakyl sulfates in the appropriate alcohols [192,260]. As is the case of alkoxysulfonium salts [261], the exchange of alkoxy groups takes place during interaction of σ -telluranes **76** with larger molecular weight alcohols [192] (Scheme 122).

$$Ar_{2}TeO + (RO)_{2}SO_{2} \longrightarrow Ar_{2}Te OSO_{2}O - TeAr_{2} \xrightarrow{R'OH} Ar_{2}Te OSO_{2}O - TeAr_{2} \xrightarrow{R'OH} OR^{1} OR^{1} OR^{1} OR^{1}$$

$$R=Me, Ar=4-DC_{6}H_{4}^{[192]} Pr^{i}C_{6}H_{4}^{[192, 260]}$$

$$R=Et: Ar=Ph, 4-DC_{6}H_{4}^{[192, 260]} Pr^{i}C_{6}H_{4}^{[192]}$$

$$R=Et: Ar=Ph: R^{1}=Pr^{i}, Bu^{i}, PhCH_{2}^{[192]}$$

SCHEME 122

166

Diphenyltellurium dichloride is also obtained in 75–80% yields when diphenyltelluroxide reacts with $SnCl_4$, $TiCl_4$ or $SbCl_5$ in chloroform [262] and $AlCl_3$, $SiCl_4$ or PCl_5 in ethanol [263] (Scheme 123).

> $Ph_2TeO + MCL_n \longrightarrow Ph_2TeCl_2 + MOCl_{n-2}$ M=Al, n=3; M=Si, Sn, Ti, n=4; M=P, Sb, n=5 SCHEME 123

2.4. Exchange Reactions of the Anionoid Groups

Strong polarization of the Te-X bonds in σ -telluranes R₂TeX₂ facilitates occurrence of the exchange reactions shown in Scheme 124.

 $R_2 TeX_2 + 2MY \longrightarrow R_2 TeY_2 + 2MX$

SCHEME 124

Higher nucleophilicity of Y^- as compared with X^- and addition of the cations M^+ forming poorly soluble salts MX are the factors favoring the exchange reaction. Substitution of the chlorine groups in diorganyltellurium dichlorides by bromine or iodine proceeds smoothly under action of methanol, acetone or dioxan solution of potassium (sodium) bromide or iodide [49,77,78,84,119,136,185] (Scheme 125).

$$R^{1}R^{2}TeCl_{2} + MX \longrightarrow R^{1}R^{2}TeX_{2}$$

M=Na, K

 $X=Br, I: R^{1} = R^{2} = Ph_{2}C=CH,^{[119]} 4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4};^{[78,185]} 3-Me-4-OHC_{6}H_{3},$ $4-Me-2-OHC_{6}H_{3} [^{77]}$ $R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}: R^{2}=Et, PhCH_{2};^{[49]} R^{1}=2-C_{10}H_{7}: R^{2}=c-C_{6}H_{11}, PhCH_{2} [^{[49]}]$ $R^{1}=2,4-(HO)_{2}C_{6}H_{3}*: R^{2}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-PhOC_{6}H_{4} [^{[84]}]$ $X=Br: R^{1}=4-Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}*: R^{2}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-PhOC_{6}H_{4} [^{[84]}]$ $X=I: R^{1}=R^{2}=PhC(CI)=CH [^{[136]}]$

* Dibromides were obtained from corresponding dichlorides and HBr

SCHEME 125

By using differences in solubility of silver salts transformation of tellurium diiodides to tellurium dicyanides can be achieved [19,20,22] (Scheme 126). A similar approach was employed for the exchange of iodine by chloride or bromine by chlorine with the use of mercury halides [264] (Scheme 127).

$$R_{2}TeI_{2} + AgCN \xrightarrow{-AgI} R_{2}Te(CN)_{2}$$

$$R=PhCH_{2},^{[19]} c-C_{6}H_{11},^{[20]} PhCOCH_{2}^{[22]}$$

$$SCHEME 126$$

$$R_{2}TeX_{2} + HgY_{2} \xrightarrow{EtOH/\Delta} R_{2}TeY_{2}$$

$$R = Me; X = I; Y = Cl, Br; R = Ph; X = Br; Y = Cl$$

$$SCHEME 127$$

Substitution of chlorines in dimethyltellurium dichloride by bromine occurs in the reaction with BBr_3 [265]. With an excess of BBr_3 the adduct 77 is formed in almost quantitative yield (Scheme 128).

 $Me_2TeCl_2 + BBr_3 \longrightarrow Me_2TeBr_2 \xrightarrow{BBr_3} [Me_2TeBr_2]_2BBr_3$ 77

SCHEME 128

Of preparative importance is the synthesis of diorganyltellurium difluorides by the reaction of diorganyltellurium dihalides with silver [148,203,266], sodium [267] or potassium [208] fluorides (Scheme 129).

 $R^{1}R^{2}TeX_{2} + MF \xrightarrow{-MX} R^{1}R^{2}TeF_{2}$ $R^{1} = R^{2} = CF_{3};^{[267]} Me, Ph;^{[266]} 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4};^{[148]} 2, 6-Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3};^{[208]}$ $R^{1} = 2-HOCH_{2}C_{6}H_{4}, R^{2} = Bu^{[203]}*$

* The compound cyclizes spontaneously to give 1-butyl-1-fluorobenzoxatellurole-2,1²⁰³

SCHEME 129

Exchange reactions of diorganyltellurium dihalides with NH_4SCN [235,236] or AgSCN [19–22] give rise to diorganyltellurium diisothiocyanates 78 (Scheme 130).

$$R_2TeX_2 + MSCN \longrightarrow R_2Te(NCS)_2$$

-MX 78

R = Ph, 4-MeOC₆H₄, 4-EtOC₆H₄;^[235, 236] c-C₆H₁₁,^[20] PhCH₂,^[19] PhCOCH₂,^[21] PhCOCHMe $^{[22]}$

By the use of silver pseudohalides diaryltellurium dipseudohalides and dicyanides were obtained [237] (Schemes 131, 132).



 $Ar_2Te < I + AgCN - AgI > Ar_2Te(CN)_2$

 $Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC_6H_4$

SCHEME 132

Interestingly, treatment of diaryltellurium iodochlorides with silver pseudohalides resulted in not expected exchange by pseudohalide of iodine but chlorine [237] (the yields of final products were 80–100%) (Scheme 133).

 Ar_2Te + AgY - AgCl + Ar_2Te

Ar = Ph: Y = CN, NCO, NCS; Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄: Y = CN, NCO, NCS

SCHEME 133

Reactions of diorganyltelluroxides with carbonic acids and carbonic acid anhydrides represents the most preparatively important method for the synthesis of diaryltellurium dicarboxylates (see Section 2.3.3). These compounds were also obtained by exchange reactions of diorganyltellurium dihalides (commonly dichlorides) with silver salts of carbonic acids [10,18,224,239,268,268,269]. (Corresponding tellurium dibromide was used for preparation of Me(CH₂)₇Te(OAc)₂(CH₂)₇COOH [27].) (Scheme 134.)

$$R_{2}\text{TeCl}_{2} + \text{AgOCOR}^{1} \longrightarrow R_{2}\text{Te}(\text{OCOR}^{1})_{2}$$

$$R = \text{Me}, R^{1} = \text{Ph};^{[10]}R = \text{Ph}: R^{1} = \text{Me}, \text{Ph},^{[239,269]} \text{CH}=\text{CHCO}_{2}\text{Bu};^{[18]}R = 4-\text{MeC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}:$$

$$R^{1} = \text{Me};^{[239]}\text{Pr}, \text{Ph}, C_{7}\text{H}_{15}, C_{11}\text{H}_{23};^{[224]}R = 4-\text{MeOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}: R^{1} = \text{Me};^{[268]}$$

$$R = 4-\text{EtOC}_{6}\text{H}_{4}: R^{1} = \text{Me}^{[239, 269]}$$

SCHEME 134

By coupling silver maleate with dicetyltellurium dichloride, dicetyltellurium maleate [18] was prepared. A convenient modification of the general method for preparation of

diaryltellurium dicarboxylates is refluxing a benzene solution of diorganyltellurium dichlorides or diiodides with silver oxide and carboxylic acids taken in a 1:1:2 ratio [271]. Such an approach allows avoidance of the labour-consuming procedure of the preparation of silver carboxylates. A series of diaryltellurium [271] and dimethyltellurium [272] dicarboxylates has been prepared using this method (Schemes 135, 136).

 $Ar_2TeCl_2 + Ag_2O + 2RCOOH$ $\xrightarrow{C_6H_6/\Delta} Ar_2Te(OCOR)_2$ - AgO - H_2O

Ar = Ph, 4-MeC₆H₄, 4-MeOC₆H₄: R = Me, Et, Pr^{i} , Bu^t, Ph, CH₂Ph, CHPh₂, CH=CHPh

SCHEME 135 $Me_2TeI_2 + Ag_2O + RCOOH \xrightarrow{CHCl_3/r.t.} Me_2Te(OCOR)_2$ $-AgI_{-H_2O}$

 $R = CH_2Cl, CHCl_2, CCl_3, 4-H_2NC_6H_4, 4-MeC_6H_4, 3,5-(O_2N)_2C_6H_3, PhCH=CH$

SCHEME 136

Another useful procedure for the synthesis of diaryltellurium dicarboxylates consists of treatment of diorganyltellurium dichlorides with a basic anionic resin in which the OH⁻ was previously exchanged with carboxylate anion [271].

For the Cl⁻/RCOO⁻ exchange sodium salts of carbonic acids can also be employed. By coupling freshly prepared sodium *o*-phthalate and tetrabromo-*o*-phthalate with diaryltellurium dichlorides in chloroform solution dimeric 14-membered cyclic carboxylates (4-RC₆H₄)₂Te(C₈X₄O₂) (R=H, OMe, OEt; X=H; R=H, OMe: X=Br) were obtained [273]. Di(trifluoromethyl)tellurium di(trifluoroacetate) was obtained in high yield by coupling di(trifluoromethyl)tellurium dihalides with trifluoroacetic acid anhydride [267] (Scheme 137).

$$(CF_3)_2 TeX_2 + (CF_3CO)_2 O \longrightarrow (CF_3)_3 Te(OCOCF_3)_2 + CF_3COX$$

X = Cl, Br

SCHEME 137

By treating diaryltellurium diacetates with an excess of another acid various diaryltellurium dicarboxylates were obtained [242] (Scheme 138).

 $Ph_2Te(OCOMe)_2 + RCOOH \longrightarrow Ph_2Te(OCOR)_2$

 $R = H, Pr^{i}, Bu^{1}, Ph, PhCH_{2}$

SCHEME 138

In the same way the use of strong chlorosulfonic acid leads to replacement of iodine in dialkyltellurium diiodides [274] and acetate residues in diaryltellurium diacetates [275] by chlorosulfate groups with formation of diorganyltellurium di(chlorosulfates) **79** (Scheme 139).

 $R^{1}R^{2}Te(SO_{3}Cl)_{2} \xrightarrow{HSO_{3}Cl} R^{1}R_{2}TeX_{2} \xrightarrow{HSO_{3}Cl} R^{1}R^{2}Te(SO_{3}Cl)_{2}$ 79 $R^{1} = R^{2} = Me, Et$ $R^{1} = R^{2} = Ph, 4-MeC_{6}H_{4},$ $4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4},$ $R^{1} = Ph, R^{2} = 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}$

SCHEME 139

The coupling of dialkyltellurium diiodides with NaI and KI (Scheme 140) or $SnCl_2$ (Scheme 141) and an excess of chlorosulfonic acids results in derivatives of hexacoordinated tellurium, namely, dialkyltetrakis(chlorosulfate)tellurates **80** [276]. The observed molar conductance values of compounds **80** in DMSO confirm that they are 1:1 and 1:2 electrolytes.

$$MI + R_2 TeI_2 + HSO_3 Cl excess \xrightarrow{r.t.} M_2[R_2 Te(SO_3 Cl)_4]$$
80

M=Na, K; R=Me, Et, Pr, Bu

SCHEME 140

 $SnCl_2 + R_2Tel_2 + HSO_3Cl excess \xrightarrow{r.t.} Sn_2[R_2Te(SO_3Cl)_4]$ 80

M=Na, K; R=Me, Et, Pr, Bu

SCHEME 141

Transformation of diaryltellurium dicarboxylates into the diiodides can be realized through a treatment of the former compounds with an acetone solution of KI [239]. Diaryltellurium dichlorides were isolated in high yields in the reaction of diaryltellurium diacetates with trimethylsilyl chloride [239] (Scheme 142) and diaryltellurium dicarboxylates with acyl chlorides [241,277] (Scheme 143). The latter reaction represents a convenient method for the preparation of carboxylic acid anhydrides obtained in more than 80% yields.

 $Ph_2Te(OCOMe)_2 + Me_3SiCl \longrightarrow Ph_2TeCl_2$ -MeCO₂SiMe₃

 $(4-RC_6H_4)_2Te(OCOR^1)_2 + R^1COCi \xrightarrow{CHCl_3/\Delta/5h} Ph_2TeCl_2 + (R^1CO)_2O$ R = H: R¹ = Me; R = OMe: R¹ = Et,Ph

SCHEME 143

Less common is application of the exchange reactions for preparation of diorgany tellurium dinitrates [10,12,278] (Scheme 144).

$$R_2 TeX_2 + AgNO_3 - AgX = R_2 Te(ONO_2)_2$$

 $R = Me, X = I,^{[10,12]} R = Ph, X = Cl^{[278]}$
SCHEME 144

Di(trifluoromethyl)tellurium dinitrate was obtained by the reaction of di(trifluoromethyl)tellurium difluoride with N_2O_5 [267] (Scheme 145).

$$(CF_3)_2 TeF_2 + N_2O_5 \longrightarrow (CF_3)_2 Te(ONO_2)_2 + NO_2F$$

SCHEME 145

Exchange reactions represent the basic method for preparation of the σ -telluranes R₂TeX₂ with the sulfur-containing groups X: SC(S)NR₂, [19–22,249] SP(S)(OR)₂, [279–282] SC(S)OR [283] and SP(S)R₂ [284].

Diorganyltellurium dithiocarbamates were prepared by the use of exchange reactions of diorganyltellurium dihalides with sodium [249] or ammonium [19–22] dithiocarbamates (Scheme 146).

$$R_2 TeX_2 + MSC(S)NR^1R^2 \xrightarrow{-MX} R_2 Te[SC(S)NR^1R^2]_2$$

 $X = Cl, I; M = Na, NH_4$

R= Me, Ph: R¹=R²= Me, Et, Prⁱ, Ph;^[249] R=Ph : R¹=R²=s-C₆H₁₃^[249] R¹=H, R²=Ph; R¹+R²=(CH₂)₅ : R=c-C₆H₁₁,^[20] PhCH₂,^[19] PhCOCH₂,^[22] PhCOCHMe^[21]

SCHEME 146

With sodium ethylene bis(N,N-dimethyldithiocarbamates) polymeric dithiocarbamates **81** were obtained [249] (Scheme 147).

 $R_2 TeX_2 + [NaSC(S)NMeCH_2]_2 \xrightarrow{-NaX} {[R_2 Te[SC(S)NMeCH_2]_2]_n}$ 81

R = Me, Ph

Cyclic diorganyltellurium alkylene dithiophosphates **82** [279,280] obtained by the exchange reaction of diorganyltellurium dichlorides with dithiophosphoric acid salts are less prone to the reduction-elimination transformation into Te(II) derivatives than their alkyl counterparts. Compounds of the type **82** were also obtained in more than 80% yield by the reaction of diorganyl tellurium dialkoxides $R_2Te(OR^1)_2$ (R^1 =Me, Et) with dithiophosphoric acids [279] (Scheme 148).

 $R_{2}TeCl_{2} + MSP(S)OGO \xrightarrow{C_{4}H_{3}Me'30}{C_{2}h} R_{2}Te[SP(S)OGO]_{2} \xleftarrow{C_{4}H_{3}Me'30}{C_{2}h} R_{2}Te(OR^{1})_{2} + HSP(S)OGO$ $M = Na, NH_{4}; R = Me: G = -CMe_{2}CMe_{2}-, -CHMeCHMe_{-}, -CH_{2}CMe_{2}CH_{2}-, CH_{2}-CEt_{2}CEt_{2}-[^{280}]$ $R = Ph, 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}: -CHMeCHMe_{-}, Me_{2}C-CMe_{2}, -CH_{2}CMe_{2}CH_{2}-, -CHMeCH_{2}CMe_{2}-, -CH_{2}-CEt_{2}CH_{2}-[^{279}]$

SCHEME 148

A similar approach has also been applied to the synthesis of diorganyl bis(diorganyldithiophosphato)tellurium(IV) containing non-cyclic $-SP(S)(OR)_2$ fragments **82a** [280,282] (Scheme 149) and dimethyltellurium bis(alkylxanthates) **83** [283] (Scheme 150).

 $R_2 TeCl_2 + MSP(S)(OR^1)_2 \xrightarrow{-MCl} R_2 Te[SP(S)(OR^1)_2]_2$ 82a

 $N = NH_4$,^[280] Na;^[282] R = Me, R¹ = Ph;^[280] R = Ph, 4-MeOC_6H_4: R¹ = Me, Et, Pr^{i[282]}

SCHEME 149

 $Me_2TeI_2 + NaSC(S)OR \xrightarrow{ROH} Me_2Te[SC(S)OR]_2$

 $R = Me, Et, Pr^{i}$

SCHEME 150

Dimethyltellurium *bis*(alkylxanthates) were also obtained in yields 49-56% by reaction of dimethyltellurium *bis*(alkoxides) with CS₂ in benzene [283] (Scheme 151).

 $Me_2Te(OR)_2 + CS_2 \xrightarrow{C_6H_6} Me_2Te[SC(S)OR]_2$

R = Me, Et

SCHEME 151

The reduction-elimination reactions of compounds with Te-S bonds are also characteristic of diphenyltellurium *bis*(diorganyl)phosphinodithioates 84 [284]. Of the

compounds 84, only the phenyl derivative 84c was isolated in the pure crystal form, whereas its alkyl analogues decompose according to Scheme 152.

 $Ph_{2}TeCl_{2} + MSP(S)R_{2} \xrightarrow{CHCl_{3}} Ph_{2}Te[SP(S)R_{2}]_{2} \longrightarrow Ph_{2}Te + [R_{2}P(S)S]_{2}$ $M = Na, NH_{4}; R = Me (a), Et (b), Ph (c) \qquad R = Me, Et$

SCHEME 152

In their reactions with sodium alkoxides, in the corresponding alcohol solution, diorganyl tellurium dihalides afford diorganyltellurium dialkoxides **85** [199,285] (Scheme 153).

 $R^{1}R^{2}TeX_{2} + NaOR \xrightarrow{-NaX} R^{1}R^{2}Te(OR)_{2}$ 85 $X = Cl, I; R^{1} = R^{2} = R = Me; R^{1} = R^{2} = Me, R = Et; R^{1} = R^{2} = Ph: R = Me, Et^{[285]}$ $R = CF_{3}CH_{2}: R^{1} = Ph: R^{2} = Et, MeOCH_{2}CH_{2}, EtOCH_{2}CH_{2}; R^{1} = 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}:$ $R^{2} = MeOCH_{2}CH_{2}, EtOCH_{2}CH_{2}^{[199]}$

SCHEME 153

The compounds 85 were also obtained using ligand exchange reactions of diaryltellurium diethoxides with *p*-methylphenol [285] (Scheme 154).

> $R_{2}Te(OEt)_{2} + R^{1}OH \xrightarrow{} R_{2}Te(OR^{1})_{2}$ - EtOH 85 $R = Me, Ph: R^{1} = 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}$

SCHEME 154

With diols and dihydroxyarenes, diorganyltellurium diethoxides form heterocyclic compounds of the type **86** containing O-TeR₂-O moieties [285] (Scheme 155).

$$R_2Te(OEt)_2 + HO - R^{i} - OH - EOH R_2Te OR^{i}$$

$$\label{eq:R=Me} \begin{split} R=&Me: R^1=(CH_2)_2, \ 1,2-C_6H_4, \ 2,3-naphto, \ 1,2-C_6H_4CH_2, \ 2,2'-biphenyl\\ R=&Ph: R^1=(CH_2)_2, \ (CH_2)_3, \ 1,2-C_6H_4, \ 2,3-naphto, \ 1,2-C_6H_4CH_2, \ 2,2'-biphenyl \end{split}$$

SCHEME 155

A broad series of σ -telluranes with Te–O or Te–S bonds were synthesized by the reactions of diaryltellurium dimethoxides or diethoxides with 8-hydroxyquinolines [286], benzylidene-o-amionophenols [287,288], salicylic aldehydes [289], acetylacetone and its derivatives [290], carboxylic acids [291], and O,O-alkylenedithiophosphoric acid [279]. Some of these compounds were also prepared by exchange reactions between diorganyltellurium dihalides and sodium salts of oxyazomethines [292] and 8-oxyquinolines [293]. No exchange of the alkoxy groups in diorganyl tellurium dialkoxides [285] or dihalides [294] occurs under their treatment with dithiols. These reactions lead to the formation of disulfides and diorganyltellurides.

On the basis of measurements of the electric conductivity the product of the reaction of dimethyltellurium diiodide with $AgClO_4$ [10,15,295] was assigned the structure of the telluronium salt $[Me_2Te(OClO_3)]^+ClO_4^-$ [295]. Attempts on the isolation of diphenyltellurium diperchlorate from the reaction of diphenyltellurium dichloride and $AgClO_4$ in methylene dichloride were unsuccessful [296]. However, this compound was isolated in the form of its stable complex with DMSO as shown in structure **87** [296] (Scheme 156). Analysis of the IR spectrum in **87** indicated that both perchlorate groups are covalently linked to the tellurium.

> $Ph_{2}TeCl_{2} \xrightarrow{1.AgClO_{4}/CH_{2}Cl_{2}} Ph_{2}Te(DMSO)(OClO_{3})_{2}$ 2.DMSO 87

SCHEME 156

Reactions of diorganyltellurium dihalides with halogens are scarcely studied. By passing gaseous chlorine through a chloroform solution of dimethyltellurium diiodide the dimethyltellurium dichloride was obtained in high yield [50]. Halogen exchange occurs on treatment of solutions of *bis*(trifluoromethyl)tellurium dihalides with chlorine or bromine. The parallel reaction of fission of the Te–C bonds leads to formation of CF₃TeCl₃ and CF₃TeBr₃ along with products of the halogen exchange reaction [267] (Scheme 157).

 $(CF_3)_2 TeX_2 + Y_2 \longrightarrow (CF_3)_2 TeY_2 + CF_3Y$ X = F: Y = Cl, Br; X = Cl: Y = Br; X = Br: Y = ClSCHEME 157

Only the products of detelluration of $(CF_3)_2 TeX_2$ (X = F,Cl,Br), CF₃I and TeI₄, were isolated in the reactions of these tellurium dihalides with iodine [267].

2.5. Other Methods

Other reactions leading to diorganyltellurium dihalides are few.

Diaryltellurium dichlorides 11 were prepared in 27-40% yields by oxidation of arylhydrazines with TeO₂ in the presence of LiCl [297] (Scheme 158).

$$RC_6H_4NHNH_2 + LiCl + TeO_2 \xrightarrow{-N_2, -H_2O,} (RC_6H_4)_2TeCl_2$$

- Te, -LiOH 11

R=H, 4-Br, 3-F, 4-NO₂, 4-Me

Compounds 11 were also prepared starting from the adducts of aryldiazonium chlorides with tellurium tetrachloride whose formula is $(ArN_2)_2TeCl_6$ [298–300]. The reductions of the latter with activated copper in acetone leads to diaryltellurium dichlorides with 20–50% yields [301] (Scheme 159).

$$(ArN_2)_2 TeCl_6 + Cu \xrightarrow{Me_2CO/-15^{\circ}C \text{ to } -10^{\circ}C} -N_2, CuCl \xrightarrow{N_2, CuCl} Ar_2 TeCl_2$$

$$11$$

$$Ar = Ph, 4-MeC_6H_4, 4-MeOC_6H_4, 4-ClC_6H_4$$

SCHEME 159

Another modification of this reaction consists of treatment of aryldiazonium tetrafluoroborates $RC_6H_4N_2BF_4$ (R=H, 4-Me) with powdered zinc in acetone in the presence of TeCl₄ [152]. Initially formed diaryltellurium dichlorides are reduced by an excess of zinc to diaryl tellurides. The yields of the latter (usually isolated as their dibromides) are very low (~ 6%) due to a competitive reduction of TeCl₄ by zinc to elemental tellurium.

Diaryltellurium dichlorides are formed by thermal decomposition of diaryltellurium di(trichloroacetates) [244]. By carrying out the latter reaction in refluxing *p*-xylene solution in the presence of cyclohexene then 7,7-dichlorobicyclo[4.1.0] heptane (in 20-30% yields) was obtained along with diaryltellurium dichlorides (55–70% yields) (Scheme 160).

$$(4-\mathrm{RC}_{6}\mathrm{H}_{4})_{2}\mathrm{Te}(\mathrm{OCOCl}_{3})_{2} \xrightarrow{p-xylene/\Delta} (4-\mathrm{C}_{6}\mathrm{H}_{4})_{2}\mathrm{TeCl}_{2} + :\mathrm{CCl}_{2} \xrightarrow{\bigcirc} \mathrm{Cl}_{Cl}$$

R=H, Me, OMe, Me_2N

SCHEME 160

Exchange reactions of diaryltellurides with diaryltellurium dihalides leads to novel diaryl tellurides and tellurium dihalides [302–304] (Scheme 161).

$$(4-RC_6H_4)_2Te + (4-R/C_6H_4)_2TeX_2 = (4-RC_6H_4)_2TeX_2 + (4-R/C_6H_4)_2Te$$

SCHEME 161

The rates of this process depend on the solvent as well as on the substituents in the aryl groups and at the tellurium atom; it decreases in the order PhCN > PhNO₂ > o-Cl₂C₆H₄ > PhMe [304]; Br \gg Cl > F [303,304]. The exchange reaction is also sensitive to catalytic agents and to the method of purification of the solvent. Since this reaction results in an equilibrium it is of limited preparative significance.

3. REACTIONS OF σ -TELLURANES R₂TeX₂

Reactions of σ -telluranes R_2TeX_2 belong to one of the following types. (1) Reactions occurring with decrease of tellurium coordination number (reduction-elimination reactions resulting in diorganyltellurides and conversion into derivatives of tricoordinated tellurium). (2) Reaction in which the coordination number of tellurium does not change. Exchange reactions of anionoid substituents described in Section 2.4 and also transformation of functional groups in R_2TeX_2 as well as preparation σ -telluranes of other types (*bis*(diorganylhalotellurium)oxides, aryltellurium trichlorides and tetraaryltelluranes) are the reactions of this type. (3) Reactions occurring with increase of tellurium coordination number (preparation of derivatives of hexacoordinated tellurium and complexation reactions). (4) Reactions accompanied by scission of Te-C bonds. These types of reactions of R_2TeX_2 are the most important for preparative application of the σ -telluranes.

3.1. Reactions Occurring with Decrease of Tellurium Coordination Number

3.1.1. Reduction-Elimination Reaction

The reduction of σ -telluranes R₂TeX₂ is one the most general methods for preparation of symmetrical and unsymmetrical diorganyltellurides, R¹R²Te. These reductions proceed in high yields, and in many cases are close to quantitative [223].

Some of the thermolysis reactions are reduction-elimination processes resulting in formation of diorganyltellurides. Reduction-elimination of σ -telluranes containing Te-S bonds 67 [249], 82 [279] and 83 [283] proceeds particularly smoothly. Thus, compounds 82 completely decompose in CH₂Cl₂, CCl₄ or CHCl₃ solution over 24 h at room temperature and during 10-12 h at reflux temperature [279] (Schemes 162-164).

$$R_2 Te[SC(S)NR_2]_2 \longrightarrow R_2 Te + [R_2^1NC(S)S]_2$$
67

 $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{M}\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{P}\mathbf{h}: \mathbf{R}^1 = \mathbf{M}\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{E}\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{P}\mathbf{r}^i, \mathbf{P}\mathbf{h}$

SCHEME 162

$$R_2 Te[SP(S)OGO]_2 \xrightarrow{\Delta} R_2 Te + [OGOP(S)S]_2$$

 $G = -CHMeCHMe-, -CMe_2CMe_2-, -Me_2CCH_2CHMe-, -CH_2CEt_2CH_2-, -CH_2CMe_2CH_2-, R = Ph, 4-MeOC_6H_4$

SCHEME 163

 $Me_2Te[SC(S)OR]_2 \longrightarrow Me_2Te + (ROC(S)S)_2$

 $R = Me, Et, Pr^{1}$

The compounds 84, with the exception of the phenyl derivative (R=Ph), completely decompose under their preparation by exchange reactions (see Section 2.4).

The thermolysis of diaryltellurium diformates 64 (R=H) gives diaryltellurides in high yields (95–100%) under more severe conditions (refluxing in *o*-xylene) [243,244] (Scheme 165).

 $(4-RC_6H_4)_2$ Te(OCHO)₂ $\xrightarrow{\Delta}$ $(4-RC_6H_4)_2$ Te + CO₂ + HCOOH 64 R=H, Me, OMe, Me₂N

SCHEME 165

The ability of diaryltellurium dihalides to convert easily into diaryltellurides permitted these compounds to be used as mild halogenating agents [214]. Thus, the iodolactone **88** was prepared in 65% yield by coupling 4-pentenoic acid with di(4-chlorophenyl)tellurium diiodide (the yields of iodolactone in the case of other tellurium diodides are not given) (Scheme 166). The reaction is accelerated by electron-releasing and is retarded by electron-withdrawing substituents in the aryl rings.

$$HO_2C + (4-RC_6H_4)_2TeI_2 + HI = I = O + (4-RC_6H_4)_2TeI_2$$

$$88$$

R = OMe, Me, H, Cl

SCHEME 166

Di-(4-chlorophenyl)tellurium diiodide reacts with 4-pentene-1-ol to give an 85:15 mixture of 2-(iodomethyl)tetrahydrofuran and 2-iodotetrahydropyrane [214] (Scheme 167) (only 2-(iodomethyl)tetrahydrofuran was isolated from reaction mixture in 57% yield).

$$HO \longrightarrow + Ar_2 Tel_2 \xrightarrow{CHCl_3/py/\Delta} I \longrightarrow 0 + O$$

 $Ar = 4 - C | C_6 H_4$

SCHEME 167

In contrast to di(4-chlorophenyl)tellurium diiodide, the corresponding dibromide is inert with respect to 4-pentenoic acid which is in accord with the increase in strength of Te-X bonds in the order of Te-I < Te-Br < Te-Cl < Te-F [214]. Diarylselenium dibromides, with the Se-Br bond being weaker than the Te-Br bond in the corresponding tellurium analogs, are more efficient brominating agents than the latter. The chlorination reaction can be promoted by Lewis acids. In the presence of AgNO₃ diphenyltellurium dichloride and di(4-methoxyphenyl)tellurium dichloride react with anthracene to give 9-chloroanthracene and the corresponding tellurides [305].

3.1.2. Reactions Resulting in Formation of Derivatives of Tricoordinated Tellurium

3.1.2.1. Synthesis of Telluronium Ylides By the treatment of diorganyltellurium dibromides or dichlorides with dimedone in solution of benzene or chloroform in the

presence of two equivalents of triethylamine a variety of ylides 89 was synthesized [50,306] (Scheme 168).



X=Cl, Br

 $R^{1}=R^{2}=Me$, Ph, 4-MeC₆H₄, 4-MeOC₆H₄, 4-EtOC₆H₄, 4-Me₂NC₆H₄, 4-FC₆H₄, 4-BrC₆H₄; $R^{1}=Me: R^{2}=$ Ph, 4-MeC₆H₄, 4-MeOC₆H₄, 4-EtOC₆H₄ $R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}: R^{2}=PhCH_{2}, 4-Pr^{1}C_{6}H_{4}$

SCHEME 168

The principal factor favoring this reaction is this high CH-acidity of dimedone which facilitates formation of the intermediate carbanions. Other compounds with active methylene groups (acetylacetone, malonodinitrile, acetoacetic and malonic ester) possessing lower CH-acidity do not form ylides under similar conditions [50]. In these cases triethylamine ($pK_a = 11$) cannot generate the corresponding carbanions in sufficiently high concentrations for these reactions to be successful.

3.1.2.2. Preparation of Diaryl Telluroxides The most general method for the synthesis of various diaryltelluroxides **90** is the hydrolysis of diaryltellurium dihalides by the use of an aqueous solution of ammonia or dilute alkali solution [82,156–160,162–168,187,190,192,208,307–310] (Scheme 169).

 $Ar^{1}Ar^{2}TeX_{2} \xrightarrow{2OH} Ar^{1}Ar^{2}TeO$ -2X 90

 $Ar^{1} = Ar^{2} = 4 - BrC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[310]} 3 - BrC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[310]} 4 - ClC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[187, 310]} 3 - ClC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[310]} 4 - FC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[187]} Ph, {}^{[168, 187, 190, 307-310]} 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[160, 187, 309, 310]} 3 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[158, 310]} 2 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[307]} 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[159, 187, 309, 310]} 3 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[162]} 2, 4 - MeC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[162]} 2, 5 - Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3}, {}^{[156]} 2, 6 - Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3}, {}^{[156]} 2, 4 - Me_{2}NC_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[190, 309, 310]} 2, 4, 6 - Me_{3}C_{6}H_{2}, {}^{[157, 190]} 4 - Pr^{i}C_{6}H_{4}, {}^{[192]} 1 - C_{10}H_{7}^{-[163]}$

Ar¹=Ph Ar²=2-MeOC₆H₄,^[167] 2,5-(MeO)₂C₆H₃, 3,4-(MeO)₂C₆H₃^[309] Ar¹=4-MeOC₆H₄, Ar²=4-Me₂NC₆H₄^[190] Ar¹=2,6-Me₂C₆H₃, Ar²=2,4,6-Me₃C₆H₂^[208]

SCHEME 169

The use of dichlorides and dibromides yields the best results. Diiodides are not readily hydrolyzed. The application of difluorides is not expedient due to their limited accessibility. The hydrolysis of other types of σ -telluranes (diaryltellurium dicarboxylates, dinitrates, oxyhalides or their anhydrides) is of no practical use.

3.1.2.3. Synthesis of Triorganyltelluronium Salts Symmetrical and unsymmetrical triaryltelluronium salts $Ar_2Ar^1Te^+Y^-$ were obtained by treatment of solutions of diaryltellurium dihalides Ar_2TeX_2 (X=Cl, Br) with an excess of ArMgBr [160,169,177,311] or ArLi [312] followed by hydrolysis with dilute HCl. Treatment of thus obtained solutions with KI or KBr leads to the corresponding telluronium iodides or bromides (Scheme 170).

 $Ar_{2}TeX_{2} + Ar^{1}MgBr(Ar^{1}Li)_{excess} \xrightarrow{H^{1}/H_{2}O/Y^{-}} Ar_{2}Ar^{1}Te^{+}Y^{-}$ $Y=Cl: Ar=Ar^{1}=Ph, 4-MeC_{6}H_{4},^{[177]}Ar=4-CF_{3}C_{6}H_{4}, Ar^{1}=2-Me_{2}NCH_{2}C_{6}H_{4};$ $Ar=2-Me_{2}NCH_{2}C_{6}H_{4}, Ar^{1}=4-CF_{3}C_{6}H_{4},^{[312]}Y=Br: Ar=Ar^{1}=2-thienyl;^{[169]}Y=IAr=Ar^{1}=Ph;^{[311]}$ $Ar=Ph: Ar^{1}=2-MeC_{6}H_{4}, 3-MeC_{6}H_{4}, 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, 2,4-Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3}, 2,5-Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3}, 3,4-Me_{2}C_{6}H_{3},$ $2,4,6-Me_{3}C_{6}H_{2}, 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 3-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 2-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-EtOC_{6}H_{4}, 2-EtOC_{6}H_{4}, 1-C_{10}H_{7};^{[311]}$ $Ar=4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, Ar^{1}=Ph^{[180]}$

SCHEME 170

The reaction of diorganyltellurium dichlorides with sodium tetraphenylborate in methanol or aqueous solution affords triorganyltelluronium tetraphenylborates [313] (Scheme 171).

$$R_2 TeCl_2 \xrightarrow{\text{NaBPh}_4 / \text{MeOH or } H_2O} R_2 PhTe^*BPh_4$$

R=Me (65%), Ph (50%)

SCHEME 171

Recently [314] electrophilic organotellurium reagents obtained from the reaction of Ar_2TeF_2 and $BF_3 \cdot Et_2O$ were used for the synthesis of various telluronium salts. As well as the corresponding iodonium derivative [315,316], this reagent readily reacts with organic substrates possessing such nucleofugal groups as trimethylsilyl or tributylstannyl [314]. By this reaction (2-oxoalkyl)diaryltelluronium tetrafluoroborates **91** were obtained from enol silyl ethers and (3-oxoalkyl)diphenyltelluronium tetrafluoroborate **92** from geminal trimethylsilyloxy(*tert*-butyl)cyclopropane (Scheme 172).



With trimethylallylsilane and tributylbenzylstannane then diphenylallyltelluronium, 93, and diarylbenzyltelluronium 94, were correspondingly obtained as their tetrafluoroborates (Scheme 173).



SCHEME 173

The employment of tributylstannyl derivatives allowed the synthesis of telluronium salts with Te-Csp² (95 and 96) and Te-Csp (97) bonds (Scheme 174). Such compounds are less accessible by the usual methods. The advantage of these reactions is that the only by-products are volatile R_3MF compounds (M=Si, R=Me or M=Sn, R=Bu), thus allowing analytically pure compounds 91-97 to be obtained in 87-100% yields by simple evaporation of the solvent from the reaction mixture.

$$Ar_{2}TeF_{2} + BF_{3} \cdot Et_{2}O + Bu_{3}SnR \xrightarrow{CH_{2}Cl_{2}/r.t.} [Ar_{2}Te^{+}R]BF_{4}$$

- Bu_{3}SnF 95-97

95 : $R = -CH = CMe_2$, Ar = Ph; 96 : R = 4-MeOC₆H₄, Ar = Ph; 97 : R = PhC = C-, Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC₆H₄

SCHEME 174

3.2. Reactions Occurring Without Change of Tellurium Coordination Number

The tellurium coordination number and also the number of organogroups bound with tellurium does not change in exchange reactions of anionoid substituents (Sections 2.4), transformations of functional groups and conversions of R_2TeX_2 to *bis*(diarylhalogeno tellurium)oxides. The transformation of R_2TeX_2 into σ -telluranes RTeX₃ and tetra-aryltelluranes is accompanied by a change in the number organogroups bound to the tellurium atom.

3.2.1. Transformation of Functional Groups

Reactions of this type are rarely used for modification of organyl groups in R_2TeX_2 . An example is acylation of the hydroxy groups of aryl(2,4-dihydroxyphenyl)tellurium dichloride [84]. Aryl(2,4-diacetoxyphenyl)tellurium dichlorides were obtained in 88–100% yields (Scheme 175).



Ar = 4-MeOC₆H₄, 4-EtOC₆H₄, 4-PhOC₆H₄

SCHEME 175

3.2.2. Preparation of bis(diarylhalogenotellurium)oxides

Refluxing of water solutions of diaryltellurium dichlorides and diaryltellurium dibromides leads to *bis*(diarylhalogenotellurium)oxides **71** [39,82,156,158–160,307,317] (see also Section 2.3.3) (Scheme 176). The diiodides are inert towards water.

$$Ar^{1}Ar^{2}TeX_{2} + H_{2}O \xrightarrow{\Delta} (Ar^{1}Ar^{2}Te)_{2}O$$
-HX
$$X$$
71

SCHEME 176

Diorganyltellurium dihalides $4\text{-ROC}_6H_4\text{TeX}_2\text{CH}_2\text{COR}$ 26 are unstable toward water. The Te-CH₂COR bond in acetonyl derivatives (R=Me) is cleaved under the action of cold water while boiling water cleaves this bond in the phenacyl derivatives (R=Ph) [84].

3.2.3. Synthesis of aryltellurium trichlorides

The refluxing of a toluene solution of diaryltellurium dichlorides and TeCl₄ taken in equimolar amounts results in aryltellurium trichlorides in high yields [143] (Scheme 177).



R=OEt, OMe, H, Br

SCHEME 177

Electron donor substituents in the aryl rings favour occurrence of the reaction. 4-Methoxyphenyl- and 4-ethoxyphenyltellurium trichlorides were obtained in, respectively, 93% and 81% yields by refluxing toluene solutions of equimolar amounts of diaryltellurium dichlorides and TeCl₄ for 5h. For diphenyltellurium and

di(4-bromophenyl)tellurium dichlorides more rigorous conditions (longer reaction time and two-fold excess of $TeCl_4$) are required.

3.2.4. Transformation in Tetraaryltelluranes

Tetraphenyltellurane may be prepared from the reaction of diphenyltellurium dichloride with phenyllithium [318,319] (Scheme 178).

$$Ph_2TeCl_2 + PhLi \longrightarrow Ph_4Te$$

- LiCl

SCHEME 178

The reaction between bis(trifluoromethyl)tellurium dichloride and (CF₃)₂Cd in glyme leads to tetrakis(trifluoromethyl)tellurane in 70% yield [320]. *Tris*(trifluoromethyl)telluronium chloride is an intermediate of this reaction (Scheme 179).

$$(CF_3)_2 TeCl_2 + (CF_3)_2 Cd \xrightarrow{MeCN/-10^{\circ}C/5h} [(CF_3)_3 TeCl + CF_3 CdCl] \xrightarrow{-CdCl_2} (CF_3)_4 TeCl_2 + CF_3 CdCl_3 \xrightarrow{-CdCl_2} (CF_3)_4 TeCl_3 + CF_3 CdCl_3 + CF_3 + CF_3 CdCl_3 + CF_3 + CF_3 CdCl_3 + CF_3 + CF_3 CdCl_3 + CF_3 + CF_3$$

SCHEME 179

3.3. Reactions Occurring with Increase of Tellurium Coordination Number

3.3.1. Conversion to Derivatives of Hexacoordinated Tellurium

Diaryltellurium difluorides were converted into their corresponding derivatives of hexacoordinated tellurium under the action of such strong oxidants as fluorine [321] and xenon difluoride [322] (Scheme 180).

$$Ph_2TeF_2 \xrightarrow{F_2} R_2TeF_4 \xrightarrow{XeF_2} (C_6F_5)_2TeF_2$$

SCHEME 180

3.3.2. Complexation Reactions

 σ -Telluranes R₂TeX₂ display properties of both Lewis acids and bases. With N,P,O,S,As-centered Lewis bases (trialkylamines, ethylene- and propylene diamines, 1-naphthylamine, pyridines, triphenylphosphine, pyridine-*N*-oxides, triphenylphosphine oxide and triphenylarsine oxide, DMSO, and thiourea) diphenyltellurium dichloride [323], dinitrate [278] and diperchlorate [296] form 1:1 adducts. The complexes of the former two σ -telluranes are monomeric, their acetonitrile and nitrobenzene solutions do not conduct an electric current [278,323]. By contrast, the complexes formed by diaryltellurium diperchlorate in acetonitrile and acetone solutions have molar conductivity of 120–160 ohm⁻¹ mol⁻¹ cm⁻² characteristic of the type 1:1 electrolytes.

The adducts of dicyclohexyltellurium dihalides [20], $bis(\alpha$ -methylphenacyl)tellurium dihalides [21] and bis(phenacyl)tellurium dihalides [22] with amines (EtNH₂, 4-BrC₆H₄NH₂, pyrrolidine, piperidine, morpholine) have the 1:2 composition. The heat of formation of the 1:1 adduct of diphenyltellurium dichloride with di(hexyl)sulf-oxide is about 1 kcal mol⁻¹ [324]. This value is much lower than that measured for the adducts of this sulfoxide with TeCl₄ (10.7 kcal mol⁻¹) and phenyltellurium trichloride (6.3 kcal mol⁻¹). These data indicate the following order of decrease in acceptor ability of TeCl₄ and its organic derivatives: TeCl₄ > PhTeCl₃ > Ph₂TeCl₂ [324].

Dialkyltellurium diiodides react with iodine in ethyl acetate or chloroform to form the adducts **98** in quantitative yields [11,15,16,325,326] (Scheme 181).

$$R_2TeI_2 + I_2 \longrightarrow R_2TeI \cdot I_2$$

98

R = Me, Et, Pr, Bu

SCHEME 181

The molecular and crystal structure of the complex $Me_2TeI_2 \cdot I_2$ was determined using X-ray crystallography [327]. Separated molecules of Me_2TeI_2 and I_2 are bound in the crystal by secondary $-I\cdots I-I$ bonds. With mixed halogens dialkyltellurium diiodides form similar types of adducts $R_2TeI_2 \cdot IX$ (X = Cl, Br) [328].

With strong Lewis acids diorganyltellurium dihalides act as donors of their lone electron pairs centered at the tellurium. By coupling SbCl₅ with dialkyl- and diaryltellurium dihalides $R^1R^2TeX_2$ (X = Cl, Br; $R^1 = R^2 = Ar$, Me, $R^1 = Ar^1$, $R^2 = Ar^2$) the complexes of two types, $R^1R^2TeX_2 \cdot SbCl_5$ and $R^1R^2TeX_2 \cdot 3SbCl_5$, are formed [329,330]. The complexes have large values of dipole moments (6–8 D for the former and 10–13 D for the latter). Very high values of dipole moments of $R^1R^2TeX_2 \cdot 3SbCl_5$ indicate their ionic character [329] (Scheme 182).

$$Ph_{2}TeCl_{2} + SbCl_{3} = [Ph_{2}TeCl \cdot SbCl_{3}]^{+}SbCl_{6}^{-}$$

$$[Ph_{2}TeCl \cdot SbCl_{3}]^{+}SbCl_{6}^{-} + SbCl_{5} = [Ph_{2}TeCl \cdot SbCl_{3}]^{2+}(SbCl_{6})_{2}^{-}$$

$$SCHEME 182$$

The donor properties of tellurium in Ph_nTeCl_{4-n} compounds are evident by the formation of their stable 1 : 1 complexes with AlBr₃. Heats of formation of these complexes increase in the order of (n=0) 39.9 kcal mol⁻¹ < (n=1) 41 kcal mol⁻¹ < (n=2)43.8 kcal mol⁻¹ [324] which is the reverse to the acceptor abilities of these compounds as measured by the heats of formation of their complexes with di(hexyl)sulfoxide.

3.4. Reactions Resulting in C-Te Bond Rupture

The reactions resulting in C-Te bond rupture may be performed under the action of heat, UV-irradiation and various reagents. The course of pyrolysis depends on the nature of the organogroups and anionoid substituents on the tellurium atom. Thus, σ -telluranes R₂TeX₂, where X = SC(S)NR₂, SP(S)(OR)₂, SP(S)R₂, SC(S)OR and

OCHO are decomposed under heating with formation of diorganyltellurides (see Section 3.1.1). Dialkyl- and arylalkyltellurium dihalides may be decomposed under heating with rupture of one Te–C bond, although the structure of the tellurium-containing residue has not always been determined. Thus, dimethyltellurium diiodide is decomposed in acetone solution resulting in Te–O-containing polymers, methyliodide, I_2 and others [331]. It is supposed that the intermediate of this reaction is methyltellurenyl iodide (MeTeI).

Pyrolysis of phenylalkyltellurium dihalides was used as a preparative method for obtaining some alkyl halides. Heating DMF solutions of phenylalkyltellurium dihalides containing alkaline metal or ammonium halides affords alkyl halides in 70–90% yields (Scheme 183). A modification of the method consists of treatment of DMF solutions of phenylalkyltellurides with methyliodide and NaI (yields 80–90%) [215]. A series of alkyl halides and alkyl(cycloalkyl)bromides was obtained in 70–95% yields by heating the corresponding tellurium dihalides in a Kugelrohr distillation apparatus under 3 Torr [332].

PhTeX₂R
$$\xrightarrow{\Delta}$$
 RX

X = Cl, I: R = $C_{11}H_{23}$, $C_{12}H_{25}$, $C_{12}H_{25}$ CHMe, $C_{14}H_{19}$, $C_{16}H_{33}$, Ph(CH₂)₂, Ph(CH₂)₃^[215] X = Br: R = C_6H_{13} CHMe,^[332] $C_{11}H_{23}$,^[215] $C_{12}H_{25}$,^[215, 332] $C_{14}H_{29}$,^[215] $C_{12}H_{25}$ CHMe,^[215, 332] $C_{16}H_{33}$,^[215] Ph(CH₂)₂, Ph(CH₂)₃,^[215]

SCHEME 183

Pyrolysis of phenyl(cyclohexyl)tellurium dibromides gives rise to cyclohexylbromides in 60–70% yields [332] (Scheme 184).



$$R = H, OMe$$

SCHEME 184

It was assumed [332] that the pyrolytic elimination of the above alkyl halides occurred through a 1,2-tellurium halogen shift, although it is not clear whether the reaction involves a radical or an ionic intermediate.

Pyrolysis of 1,1-*bis*(phenyldibromotelluro)alkanes in the presence of sodium bromide is a convenient method for the preparation of 1,1-dibromoalkanes (76–86% yields). Pyrolysis of 1,1-*bis*(phenyldiiodotelluro)alkanes in the presence of sodium iodide leads to aldehydes in 77–93% yields [215] (Scheme 185).

 $RCHO \xleftarrow{\text{Nal/}\Delta}_{-[PhTe]]} RCH(TeX_2Ph)_2 \xleftarrow{\text{NaBr/}\Delta}_{-[PhTeBr]} RCHBr_2$ $R = C_{11}H_{23}, C_{12}H_{25}, C_{14}H_{29}, C_{16}H_{33}, Ph(CH_2)_3$

 α -Chloroketones were obtained by pyrolysis of α -(aryldichlorotelluro)ketones. By heating pinacoyl(4-methoxyphenyl)tellurium dichloride at 210°C under a water pump vacuum then α -chloropinacolone was obtained in 85% yield [101] (Scheme 186).



SCHEME 186

Pyrolysis of *bis*(2-chlorocyclohexyl)tellurium dichloride $(150^{\circ}C, 1 \text{ mm})$ leads to a mixture of products of decomposition (cyclohexene, chlorocyclohexane, benzene, Te and HCl) [108,109]. In a similar way, pyrolysis of 2-chloroalkyltellurium dichlorides leads to a mixture of alkenes, chloroalkenes, chloroalkanes, 1,2-dichloroalkanes, HCl, Te and TeCl₄ [108,109]. Elemental tellurium and 1-chloro-4-methoxybenzene are the main products of the pyrolytic decomposition (250°C) of di(4-methoxyphenyl)-tellurium dichloride [83]. Photolysis of diorganyltellurium dichlorides proceeds with rupture of two C-Te bonds.

Diaryltellurium dichlorides are susceptible to photolytic elimination of aryl chlorides resulting in 4-chloroarenes (4–37%), 2,4-dichloroarenes (1–15%) and biaryls (9–13%), the latter being formed by coupling of the organic moiety of σ -tellurane with the benzene used as the solvent [332,333] (Scheme 187). Yields of aryl halides decrease as the electron donor properties of the substituents in the aryl rings of σ -telluranes diminishes.



When *bis*(4-methoxyphenyl)tellurium diacetate was similarly irradiated in acetic acid, *p*-acetoxyanisole was formed only in 6% yield [332].

Photolysis of di(benzoylmethyl)tellurium dichloride involves homolytic fission of the Te-C bonds accompanied by formation of phenacyl radicals [334] (Scheme 188).

 $(PhCOCH_2)_2 TeCl_2 \xrightarrow{hv} PhCOCH_2 + PhCOCH_2 TeCl_2$ $PhCOCH_2 TeCl_2 \xrightarrow{} PhCOCH_2 + TeCl_2$ $TeCl_2 \xrightarrow{} TeCl_4$

Reacting with proton donor solvents these radicals form acetophenone, while in inert solvents, along with the formation of acetophenone or chloroacetophenone, recombination of the radicals resulted in the formation of 1,2-dibenzoylethane [334].

Detelluration reactions of $R_2 TeX_2 \sigma$ -telluranes may occur under the action of various reagents.

When treated with concentrated nitric acid diaryltellurium dihalides convert to 2-halogeno-4-nitroarenes (the yields were not given) [82] (Scheme 189).



X = Cl, Br, I

SCHEME 189

An addition to a suspension of di(4-dimethylaminophenyl)tellurium dichloride in diluted hydrochloric acid of aqueous solution of NaNO₂ affords 4-nitrosodimethyl-aniline in 80% yield [78] (Scheme 190).



SCHEME 190

Dibenzyltellurium dibromide reacts with an excess of bromine to give benzylbromide and $TeBr_4$ [149] (Scheme 191).

 $(PhCH_2)_2TeBr_2 + Br_2 \longrightarrow PhCH_2Br + TeBr_4$

SCHEME 191

Both Te-C bonds of di(2,2-diphenylvinyl)tellurium dichloride are ruptured in its reaction with chlorine [119] (Scheme 192).

$$(Ph_2C=CH)_2TeCl_2 + Cl_2 \longrightarrow Ph_2C=CHCl + TeCl_4$$

SCHEME 192

The reaction of phenylethynyl(butyl)tellurium dichloride with bromine results into a mixture of 1,1,2-tribromo-2-phenylethene and 1,2-dibromo-1-chloro-2-phenylethene in a 3:1 ratio [201]. Probably this reaction occurs through the hexacoordinate tellurium intermediate **99** (Scheme 193).



Like aryltellurium trihalides [332,335] diorganyltellurium dihalides readily undergo oxidative α -elimination of organyl halides [332] (Scheme 194) and halodetelluration reactions [335]. The former reactions occur under treatment of solutions of tellurium dihalides with Bu'OOH in acetic acid solution. Under these conditions 4-methoxyphenyl(2-chlorocyclohexyl)tellurium dichloride affords 1,2-dichlorocyclohexane and 1-chloro-4-methoxybenzene in 55% and 22% yields, respectively. Diaryltellurium dihalides do not enter into this reaction [332].





The iododetelluration reactions of diaryltellurium dihalides (Scheme 195), performed by refluxing their acetonitrile solutions containing KF, gave aryl iodides in lower yields than those attained in the similar transformations of aryltellurium trihalides [335]. The yields are not substantially affected by the type of the anionoid substituent, but are higher when donor substituents are introduced into the aryl rings [335].



R = MeO: X = Cl (23%), OAc (24%); R = H: X = Cl (4%), OAc (2%), OCOCF₃ (1%)

SCHEME 195

Under the action of bromine in acetonitrile solution di(4-methoxyphenyl)tellurium dichloride undergoes a bromodetelluration reaction resulting in 1-methoxy-2,4-dibromobenzene in 78% yield [335] (Scheme 196). The dibromo derivative is the product of bromination of the initially formed 1-methoxy-4-bromobenzene. The bromination is catalyzed by the tellurium dichloride. Diphenyltellurium dichloride and di(trifluoroacetate) are inert to such types of reactions [335].



SCHEME 196

Cyanodetelluration of σ -telluranes R₂TeX₂ under the action of CuCN proceeds with very low yields (2–8%) of the nitriles [335] (Scheme 197).



 $R = Br, H, OMe; X = Cl, OAc, OCOCF_3$

SCHEME 197

Examples of reactions of tellurium dihalides with nucleophilic reagents that have resulted in fission of both Te-C bonds are rare. When treated with two equivalents of TMEDA, ketone 29 affords an α -methyleneketone [103] (Scheme 198).





Detelluration of diaryltellurium dichlorides and congeners is also effected by Raney nickel [76,83,125], Pd(II) salts [336], nickel tetracarbonyl [237] and tributyltin hydride [134]. On heating of diaryltellurium dichlorides in 2-methoxyethyl ether in the presence of Raney Ni, symmetric biaryls (58–91%) are produced [76,83] (Scheme 199).



 $R^2 = H$: $R^1 = OMe$, ^[76, 83] OEt, H, Me, Br, NMe_2 , ^[76] $R^1 = OMe$: $R^2 = 3$ -Me, 3-OMe, 2-OMe; $R^1 + R^2 = 3, 4$ -C₄H₄^[76]

2-Naphthyl(2-chloro-1-methylpropyl)tellurium dichloride upon treatment with Raney Ni afforded 2,2'-binaphthyl (in 88% yield), but not the expected 2-(2-chloro-1-methylpropyl)naphthalene [125]. Biaryls are formed in 10-51% yields from the reaction of diaryltellurium dichlorides with Pd(OAc)₂ in acetic acid solution [336] (Scheme 200).



R = MeO, Me, H, Br

SCHEME 200

Reaction of diaryltellurium dichlorides with alkenes taken in 5-10-fold excess carried out in the presence of Pd(II) salts gives arylated alkenes in modest to almost quantitative yields [336] (Scheme 201). Biaryls and adducts arising from addition of acetic acid to the double bond of the alkene are the by-products of this reaction.

 $Ar_{2}TeCl_{2} + CH_{2}=CHR \xrightarrow{Pd(II)/AcOH/\Delta/Ih} ArCH=CHR$ $Ar = Ph: R = Ph, CO_{2}Me, CO_{2}Et, CN, CHO, COMe, CH_{2}OH, CH_{2}OAc, CH_{2}Br$ $Ar = 4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, 4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, 4-BrC_{6}H_{4}: R = Ph$

SCHEME 201

The reaction with acrylonitrile and methacrylonitrile affords a mixture of *trans*- and *cis*-cinnamonitriles. Metacrylonitrile affords the 1:1:1.5 mixture of the isomers **100–102** [336] (Scheme 202). Other arylalkenes are usually obtained as *trans*-isomers.



 β -Phenylpropionaldehyde is the product of the reaction of diphenyltellurium dichloride with allylic alcohol and allylbenzene was obtained on treating tellurium dichloride with allyl bromide [336].

The most efficient catalytic system for these reactions of diaryltellurium dihalides is $PdCl_2/NaOAc$. Other catalysts (Pd, RuCl₃, RhCl₃) provide for lower yields of arylated alkenes. The mechanism of the arylation reaction involves Te(IV)-Pd(II) exchange [336] (Scheme 203).



Reaction of diaryltellurium dichlorides with Ni(CO)₄ and DMF at 70°C followed by hydrolysis of the reaction mixture results in carboxylic acids (in 58–71% yields) [337] (Scheme 204). Diarylketones (up to 10%) and diaryl tellurides (15%) were isolated as the by-products. Dialkyl tellurium dichlorides, in particular *bis*(2-chloropropyl)tellurium dichloride, do not enter into this reaction.

$$Ar_{2}TeCl_{2} \xrightarrow{1.Ni(CO)_{4}/DMF/70^{\circ}C/24h}$$
 $ArCOOH + NiTe + CO + HCl_{2.H_{2}O}$

 $Ar = Ph, 4-MeOC_6H_4$

SCHEME 204

The following mechanism for the carbonylation of diaryltellurium dichlorides was suggested (Scheme 205).



Lactones 48 obtained by reaction of aryltellurium trichlorides with γ , δ -unsaturated carboxylic acids [134] (see Section 2.2.3.1) are detellurated under a treatment with tributyltin hydride resulting in lactones 103 [134] (Scheme 206).





The reaction occurs as a radical process and when carried out in the presence of methylacrylate affords the lactones 103 and the 104 as the main products [134] (Scheme 207).



SCHEME 207

Similarly, trapping the intermediate free radical, formed from the reaction of the tellurium dichlorides 49 [135] with Bu_3SnH , the compound 105 was isolated [134] (Scheme 208).



Acknowledgement

Financial support by the Russian Fund for Fundamental Research (grants 99-03-33132a, 00-15-97320) and Ministry of Education of Russian Federation (grant 2000-5-117) is appreciated.

References

- [1] J. Musher (1970). Tetrahedron, 30, 1747.
- [2] N. Petragnani (1994). Tellurium in organic synthesis. Best Synthetic Methods. Academic Press, London.
- [3] N. Petragnani and W.-L. Lo (2000). Phosphorus, Sulfur, Silicon Relat. Elem., 136-137, 91.
- [4] K.J. Irgolic (1974). The Organic Chemistry of Tellurium. Gordon and Breach, New York, London, Paris.
- [5] I.D. Sadekov, A.Ya. Bushkov and V.I. Minkin (1979). Usp. Khim., 48, 635.
- [6] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko and V.I. Minkin (1983). Khimia Tellurorganicheskikh Soedinenii. Rostov University Press, Rostov on Don.
- [7] J. Bergman and L. Engman (1986). Tetra- and higher-valent (hypervalent) derivatives of selenium and tellurium. In: S. Patai and Z. Rappoport (Eds), *The Chemistry of Organic Selenium and Tellurium Compounds*. Vol. 1, Ch. 14, p. 517. J. Wiley.
- [8] I.D. Sadekov, L.E. Rybalkina, D.Ya. Movshovich, S.B. Bulgarevich and V.A. Kogan (1991). Usp. Khim., 60, 1229
- [9] Scott A. (1904). Proc. Chem. Soc., 20, 156.
- [10] R.H. Vernon (1920). J. Chem. Soc., 86
- [11] J.C. Thayer and K.V. Smith (1973). Synth. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 3, 101.
- [12] A.N. Murin, V.D. Nefedov and O.V. Larionov (1961). Radiokhimia, 3, 90.
- [13] G.C. Hayward and P.I. Hendra (1969). J. Chem. Soc., A, 1760.
- [14] L. Carillo and S.J. Nassiff (1967). Radiochem. Acta, 8, 124.
- [15] R.H. Vernon (1921). J. Chem. Soc., 687.
- [16] F.L. Gilbert and T.M. Lowry (1928). J. Chem. Soc., 3179.
- [17] W.V. Farrar and J.M. Gulland (1945). J. Chem. Soc., 11.
- [18] S.S. Abed-Ali and W.R. McWhinnie (1984). J. Organomet. Chem., 277, 365.
- [19] Y.D. Kulkarni and S. Srivastava (1985). Ind. J. Chem., 24A, 710.
- [20] Y.D. Kulkarni and S. Srivastava (1985). Ind. J. Chem., 24A, 429.
- [21] Y.D. Kulkarni, S. Srivastava and M. Athar (1985). Ind. J. Chem., 24A, 1069.
- [22] S. Srivastava, A. Singh and Y.D. Kulkarni (1988). Ind. J. Chem., 27A, 734.
- [23] S.C. Cohen, M.L.N. Reddy and A.G. Massey (1968). J. Organomet. Chem., 11, 563.
- [24] C.W. Woodwards, G. Hughes and A.G. Massey (1976). J. Organomet. Chem., 112, 9
- [25] G.T. Morgan and F.H. Burstall (1931). J. Chem. Soc., 180
- [26] A.M. Duffield, H. Budzikiewicz and C. Djerassi (1965). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87, 2920.
- [27] A.Z. Al-Rubaie, H.A. Al-Shirayda, P. Granger and S. Chapelle (1985). J. Organomet. Chem., 287, 321.
- [28] A.Z. Al-Rubaie and H.A. Al-Shirayda (1985). J. Organomet. Chem., 294, 315.
- [29] A.I. Ayoob and T.A. Al-Allaf (1995). Asian J. Chem., 7, 685.
- [30] R.F. Ziolo and W.H.H. Gunther (1978). J. Organomet. Chem., 146, 245.
- [31] T.N. Srivastava, R.K. Srivastava and R. Kumar (1982). J. Ind. Chem. Soc., 59, 186.
- [32] A.Z. Al-Rubaie (1990). J. Organomet. Chem., 382, 383.
- [33] A.Z. Al-Rubaie, Y.N. Al-Obaidi and L.Z. Yousif (1990). Polyhedron, 9, 1141.
- [34] H.B. Singh, W.R. McWhinnie, T.A. Hamor and R.H. Jones (1984). J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 23.
- [35] K.Y. Abid and W.R. McWhinnie (1987). J. Organomet. Chem., 330, 337.
- [36] H.B. Singh, P.K. Khanna and S.K. Kumar (1988). J. Organomet. Chem., 338, 1.
- [37] A.Z. Al-Rubaie, H.A. Shirayda and A.I. Ayoob (1987). Inorg. Chim. Acta, 134, 139.
- [38] W.A. Waters (1938). J. Chem. Soc., 1077.
- [39] H. Taniyama, E. Miyoshi, E. Sakakibara and H. Uchida (1957). Yakugaki Zasshi, 77, 191; (1957). Chem. Abst., 51, 10407i.
- [40] R.B. Sandin, F.T. McClure and F. Irwin (1939). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 61, 2944.
- [41] R.B. Sandin, R.G. Christiansen, R.K. Brown and R. Kirkwood (1947). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 69, 1550.
- [42] M.M. de Campos and N. Petragnani (1962). Tetrahedron, 18, 521.
- [43] A.Z. Al-Rubaie, N.I. Al-Salim and S.A.N. Al-Jadaan (1993). J. Organomet. Chem., 443, 67.
- [44] H. Rheinboldt and G. Vicentini (1956). Chem. Ber., 89, 624.
- [45] A.K. Singh, V. Srivastava and B.L. Khandelwal (1990). Polyhedron, 9, 495.
- [46] B.L. Khandelwal, A.K. Singh and V. Srivastava (1990). Polyhedron, 9, 2041.
- [47] A.K. Singh, S. Thomas and B.L. Khandelwal (1991). Polyhedron, 10, 2693.
- [48] A.Z. Al-Rubaie, A.A.M. Fingan, N.I. Al-Salim and S.A.N. Al-Jadaan (1995). Polyhedron, 14, 2575.
- [49] G. Vicentini (1958). Chem. Ber., 91, 801.
- [50] I.D. Sadekov, A.I. Usachev, V.A. Bren, M.S. Korobov, I.D. Tseimakh and V.I. Minkin (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 2232.
- [51] I.D. Sadekov, M.L. Cherkinskaya, V.P. Metlushenko, Yu.E. Chernish and V.I. Minkin (1981). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 51, 1060.
- [52] R.E. Cobbledick, F.W.B. Einstein, W.R. McWhinnie and F.H. Musa (1979). J. Chem. Res. (M), 1901.
- [53] Y. Wu, K. Ding and Y. Wang (1994). J. Organomet. Chem., 468, 13.

- [54] I.D. Sadekov, M.L. Cherkinskaya, V.L. Pavlova, V.A. Bren and V.I. Minkin (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 2774.
- [55] N. Al-Salim, A.A. West, W.R. McWhinnie and T.A. Hamor (1988). J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 2363.
- [56] H.B. Singh, N. Sudha, A.A. West and T.A. Hamor (1990). J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 907.
- [57] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko and A.A. Ladatko (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 2229.
- [58] N.W. Alcock and W.D. Harrison (1982). J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 251.
- [59] T.N. Srivastava, R.C. Srivastava and K. Kapoor (1979). J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 41, 413.
- [60] I.D. Sadekov and A.A. Maksimenko (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 1918.
- [61] D.H.R. Barton, J.P. Finet, C. Giannotti and M. Thomas (1988). Tetrahedron Lett., 29, 2671.
- [62] H.W. Roesky, J. Munzenberg, R. Bohra and M. Noltemeyer (1991). J. Organomet. Chem., 418, 399.
- [63] J. Munzenberg, H.W. Roesky and M. Bjorgvinson (1992). Phosphorus, Sulfur, Silicon Relat. Elem., 67, 39.
- [64] J. Munzenberg, H.W. Roesky, M. Noltemeyer, S. Besser and R. Herbst-Irmer (1993). Z. Naturforsch., 48b, 199.
- [65] T. Chivers and M.N.S. Rao (1992). Phosphorus, Sulfur, Silicon Relat. Elem., 69, 197.
- [66] R.K. Chadha and J.E. Drake (1984). J. Organomet. Chem., 268, 141.
- [67] R.C. Paul, K.K. Bhasin and R.K. Chadha (1976). Ind. J. Chem., 14A, 864.
- [68] R.C. Paul, K.K. Bhasin and R.K. Chadha (1975). J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 2337.
- [69] H. Schumann and M. Magerstadt (1982). J. Organomet. Chem., 232, 147.
- [70] B.C. Pant (1973). J. Organomet. Chem., 54, 191.
- [71] V. Kumar, P.H. Bird and B.C. Pant (1979). Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 9, 203.
- [72] A.A. Maksimenko, A.V. Zakharov and I.D. Sadekov (2000). Usp. Khim., 69, 940.
- [73] G.T. Morgan and Kellett R.E. (1926). J. Chem. Soc., 1080.
- [74] G.T. Morgan and H.D.K. Drew (1925). J. Chem. Soc., 2307.
- [75] E. Rust (1897). Ber., 30, 2828.
- [76] J. Bergman (1972). Tetrahedron, 28, 3323.
- [77] B.L. Khandelwal, K. Kumar and K. Raina (1981). Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 11, 65.
- [78] G.T. Morgan and H. Burgess (1929). J. Chem. Soc., 1203.
- [79] I.D. Sadekov, A.Ya. Bushkov, V.L. Pavlova, V.S. Ur'eva and V.I. Minkin (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 1305.
- [80] F.J. Berry, N. Gunduz, M. Roshani and B.C. Smith (1975). Commun. Fac. Sci. Univ. Ankara, B, 22, 21.
- [81] H.D.K.J. Drew (1926). J. Chem. Soc., 223.
- [82] G.T. Morgan and F.H. Burstall (1930). J. Chem. Soc., 2599.
- [83] J. Bergman, R. Carlson and B. Sjoberg (1977). Org. Synth., 57, 18.
- [84] N. Petragnani (1961). Tetrahedron, 12, 219.
- [85] B. Krebs, B. Buss and D. Altena (1971). Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 386, 257.
- [86] W.H.H. Gunther, J. Nepywoda, and J.Y.C. Chu (1974). J. Organomet. Chem., 74, 79.
- [87] G.T. Morgan and H. Burgess (1929). J. Chem. Soc., 2214.
- [88] G.T. Morgan and H.D.K. Drew (1925). J. Chem. Soc., 531.
- [89] E. Rohrbaech (1901). Lieb. Ann. Chem., 315, 9.
- [90] G.T. Morgan and O.C. Elvins (1925). J. Chem. Soc., 2625.
- [91] H.J. Gysling, H.R. Luss and S.A. Gardner (1980). J. Organomet. Chem., 184, 417.
- [92] D.H. O'Brien, K.J. Irgolic and C.K. Huang (1983). In: F.J. Berry and W.R. McWhinnie (Ed.), Proc. of 4th Int. Conf. on Org. Chem. Selenium and Tellurium. p. 468. Birmingham, England.
- [93] L. Engman (1986). Organometallics, 5, 427.
- [94] A. Ishii, J. Nakayama, Y. Horikawa and M. Hoshino (1989). Sulfur Lett., 10, 71.
- [95] L. Futekov and B. Atanasova (1971). Nauch. Tr. Vissh. Pedagog. Inst., Plovdiv, Mat., Fiz., Khim., Biol., 9, 113; (1972). Chem Abstr., 76, 153279s.
- [96] D.H. O'Brien, K.J. Irgolic and C.K. Huang (1990). Heteroatom Chem., 1, 215.
- [97] K.K. Verma and S. Garg (1994). Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 24, 1631.
- [98] K.K. Verma and S. Garg (1994). Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 24, 647.
- [99] G.T. Morgan and H.D.K. Drew (1922). J. Chem. Soc., 922.
- [100] G.T. Morgan and H.D.K. Drew (1924). J. Chem. Soc., 731.
- [101] H.A. Stefani, J.V. Comasseto and N. Petragnani (1987). Synth. Commun., 17, 443.
- [102] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko and B.B. Rivkin (1978). Zh. Org. Khim., 14, 874.
- [103] H. Nakahira, I. Ryu, L. Han, N. Kambe and N. Sonoda (1991). Tetrahedron Lett., 32, 229.
- [104] A.A. Maksimenko, B.B. Rivkin, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1985). Khim. Geterotsykl. Soedin., 769.
- [105] B.L. Khandelwal, A.K. Singh and N.S. Bhandari (1988). Phosphorus, Sulfur, 38, 157.
- [106] C.H. Fisher and A. Eisner (1941). J. Org. Chem., 6, 169.
- [107] H. Funk and W. Weiss (1954). J. Prakt. Chem., 4, 33.
- [108] M. Ogawa (1968). Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn, 41, 3031.
- [109] M. Ogawa and R. Ishioka (1970). Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn, 43, 496.
- [110] D. Kobelt and E.E. Paulus (1971). Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl., 10, 74.
- [111] D. Kobelt and E.E. Paulus (1971). J. Organomet. Chem., 27, C63.

- [112] H.I. Arpe and H. Kuckertz (1971). Angew. Chem., 83, 81.
- [113] T.S. Cameron, R.B. Amero and R.E. Cordes (1980). Cryst. Struct. Commun., 9, 533.
- [114] J. Bergman and L. Engman (1981). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 103, 2715.
- [115] L.S. Lichtmann, J.D. Parsons and E.H. Cirlin (1988). J. Cryst. Growth., 86, 217.
- [116] M. Albeck and T. Tamary (1979). J. Organomet. Chem., 164, C23.
- [117] M. Albeck and T. Tamary (1991). J. Organomet. Chem., 420, 35.
- [118] D. Elmalen, S. Patai and Z. Rappoport (1971). J. Chem. Soc., C, 3100.
- [119] L. Engman (1984). Organometallics, 3, 1308.
- [120] E.Sh. Mamedov, S.B. Kurbanov and R.D. Mishiev (1983). Dokl. Akad. Nauk Azerb. SSR, 39, 42.
- [121] N. Petragnani and M.M. de Campos (1964). Chem. Ind., 1461.
- [122] M.M. de Campos and N. Petragnani (1959). Tetrahedron Lett., 11.
- [123] T.S. Cameron, R.B. Amero and R.E. Cordes (1980). Cryst. Struct. Commun., 9, 539.
- [124] B. Borecka, T.S. Cameron, M.A. Malik and B.C. Smith (1994). Can. J. Chem., 72, 1844.
- [125] J. Bergman and L. Engman (1980). Tetrahedron, 36, 1275.
- [126] J.E. Backvall, J. Bergman and L. Engman (1983). J. Org. Chem., 48, 3918.
- [127] S. Uemura, S. Fukuzawa, A. Toshimitsu and M. Okano (1982). Tetrahedron Lett., 23, 1177.
- [128] S. Uemura and S. Fukuzawa (1983). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 105, 2748.
- [129] S. Uemura, S. Fukuzawa, and A. Toshimitsu (1983). J. Organomet. Chem., 250, 203.
- [130] J. Bergman and L. Engman (1981). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 103, 5196.
- [131] S. Uemura and S. Fukuzawa, S.R. Patil and M. Okano (1985). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 499.
- [132] M.M. de Campos and N. Petragnani (1960). Chem. Ber., 93, 317.
- [133] J.V. Comasseto and N. Petragnani (1983). Synth. Commun., 13, 889.
- [134] J.V. Comasseto, H.M.C. Ferraz, C.A. Brandt and K.K. Gaeta (1989). Tetrahedron Lett., 30, 1209.
- [135] J.V. Comasseto, H.M.C. Ferraz, N. Petragnani and C.A. Brandt (1987). Tetrahedron Lett., 28, 5611.
- [136] M.M. de Campos and N. Petragnani (1962). Tetrahedron, 18, 527.
- [137] S. Uemura, H. Miyoshi and M. Okano (1979). Chemistry Lett., 1357.
- [138] H.A. Stefani, I.P. Campos de Arruda, L.C. Roque, M.A. Montoro and A.L. Braga (1996). J. Chem. Res. (S), 54.
- [139] H.A. Stefani, N. Petragnani, J. Zukerman-Schpector, L. Dornelles, D.O. Silva and A.L. Braga (1998). J. Organomet. Chem., 562, 127.
- [140] J.V. Comasseto, H.A. Stefani, A. Chieffi and J. Zukerman-Schpector (1991). Organometallics, 10, 845.
- [141] J. Zukerman-Schpector, J.V. Comasseto and H.A. Stefani (1991). Acta Crystallogr., C47, 960.
- [142] X. Huang and Y.P. Wang (1996). Tetrahedron Lett., 37, 7417.
- [143] I.D. Sadekov, A.Ya. Bushkov and V.I. Minkin (1972). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 42, 129.
- [144] R.K. Chadha, J.E. Drake and M.K.H. Neo (1984). J. Organomet. Chem., 277, 47.
- [145] N. Petragnani and M.M. de Campos (1961). Chem. Ber., 94, 1759.
- [146] I.D. Sadekov, A.Ya. Bushkov, L.N. Markovskii and V.I. Minkin (1976). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 46, 1660.
- [147] L. Reichel and E. Kirschbaum (1936). Liebigs Ann. Chem., 523, 211.
- [148] F.J. Berry, E.H. Kustan, M. Roshani and B.C. Smith (1975). J. Organomet. Chem., 99, 115.
- [149] H.K. Spencer and M.P. Cava (1977). J. Org. Chem., 42, 2937.
- [150] I.D. Sadekov and A.A. Maksimenko (1978). Zh. Org. Chem., 14, 2620.
- [151] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko and B.B. Rivkin (1983). Zh. Org. Chem., 19, 616.
- [152] A.N. Nesmeyanov, L.G. Makarova and V.N. Vinogradova (1972). Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. khim., 983.
- [153] F. Zeiser (1895). Ber., 28, 1670.
- [154] R.E. Lyons and G.C. Buch (1908). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 30, 831.
- [155] K. Lederer (1915). Ber., 48, 2049.
- [156] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 334.
- [157] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 345.
- [158] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 1071.
- [159] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 1076.
- [160] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 1615.
- [161] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 2002.
- [162] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 2532.
- [163] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 49, 2663.
- [164] K. Lederer (1917). Ber., 50, 238.
- [165] K. Lederer (1919). Ber., 52, 1989.
- [166] K. Lederer (1920). Ber., 53, 712.
- [167] K. Lederer (1920). Ber., 53, 1674.
- [168] F. Kraft and R.E. Lyons (1894). Ber., 1768.
- [169] E. Krause and G. Renwanz (1929). Ber., 62, 1710.
- [170] M.P. Bafle, C.A. Chaplin and H. Phillips (1938). J. Chem. Soc., 341.
- [171] M.P. Bafle and K.N. Nandi (1941). J. Chem. Soc., 70.
- [172] M.L. Bird and F. Challenger (1939). J. Chem. Soc., 163.
- [173] H. Rheinboldt and N. Petragnani (1956). Chem. Ber., 89, 1270.
- [174] G. Vicentini, E. Giesbrecht and L.R.M. Pitombo (1959). Chem. Ber., 92, 40.
- [175] N. Petragnani (1963). Chem. Ber., 96, 247.
- [176] L.V. Kaabak, A.P. Tomilov and S.L. Varshavskii (1964). Zh. Vsesoyuz. Khim. Obshestva, 9, 700.
- [177] M. Vobetski, V.D. Nefedov and E.N. Simonova (1963). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 33, 1684.
- [178] Y. Llabador and J.P. Adloff (1966). Radiochim. Acta, 6, 49.
- [179] M. Adloff and J.P. Adloff (1966). Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr., 3304.
- [180] J.L. Piette and M. Renson (1970). Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg., 79, 353.
- [181] N. Petragnani, L. Torres and K.J. Wynne (1975). J. Organomet. Chem., 92, 185.
- [182] K.J. Irgolic, P.J. Busse, R.A. Grigsby and M.R. Smith (1975). J. Organomet. Chem., 88, 175.
- [183] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Ladatko and V.I. Minkin (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 2398.
- [184] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko and V.I. Minkin (1981). Khim. Geterotsykl. Soedin., 122.
- [185] I.D. Sadekov, M.L. Cherkinskaya, V.L. Pavlova, V.A. Bren and V.I. Minkin (1978). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 48, 390.
- [186] I.D. Sadekov, A.Ya. Bushkov, V.S. Ur'eva and V.I. Minkin (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 2541.
- [187] I.D. Sadekov, I.A. Barchan, A.A. Maksimenko, B.B. Rivkin, M.L. Cherkinskaya, Yu.N. Simkina and V.I. Minkin (1982). *Khim. Farm. Zh.*, 1073.
- [188] B.A. Trofimov, N.K. Gusarova, A.A. Tatarinova, S.V. Amosova, V.M. Bzhezovskii and V.V. Sherbakov (1983). Zh. Org. Khim., 19, 457.
- [189] R. Zingaro, N. Petragnani and J. Valgir (1987). Organomet. Synth., 3, 649.
- [190] M. Akiba, M.V. Lackshmikantham, K. Jen and M.P. Cava (1984). J. Org. Chem., 49, 4819.
- [191] V.I. Minkin, I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko, A.G. Maslakov, G.K. Mehrotra and M.A. Fedotov (1988). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 58, 1684.
- [192] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko, B.B. Rivkin and V.I. Minkin (1989). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 59, 2015.
- [193] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko, A.G. Maslakov, G.K. Mehrotra, G.S. Borodkin, O.E. Kompan,
- Yu.T. Struchkov, M.A. Fedotov and V.I. Minkin (1989). Metallorg. Khim., 2, 298.
- [194] J. Ruppert (1979). Chem. Ber., 112, 3023.
- [195] C. Lau, J. Passmore, E.K. Richardson, T.K. Whidden and P.S. White (1985). Can. J. Chem., 63, 2273.
- [196] S. Herberg and D. Naumann (1982). Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 494, 151.
- [197] S. Herberg and D. Naumann (1982). Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 492, 95.
- [198] V.L. Nivorozhkin, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1993). Khim. Geterotsykl. Soedin., 1700.
- [199] A. Sandhu, S. Sud, K.K. Bhasin and R.D. Verma (1989). Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 19, 169.
- [200] H.B. Singh and N. Sudha (1990). J. Organomet. Chem., 397, 153.
- [201] M.J. Dabdoub, J.V. Comaseto, S.M. Barros and F. Moussa (1990). Synth. Commun., 20, 2181.
- [202] A.A. Maksimenko, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1990). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 60, 471.
- [203] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko, A.V. Zakharov and B.B. Rivkin (1994). Khim. Geterotsykl. Soedin., 266.
- [204] G.M. Abakarov, Sh.S. Gasanov, A.A. Maksimenko, M.-Z.V. Vagabov and I.D. Sadekov (1992). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 62, 1854.
- [205] H.B. Singh, N. Sudha and R.T. Butcher (1992). Inorg. Chem., 31, 1431.
- [206] M.R. Detty, A.E. Friedmann and M. McMillan (1995). Organometallics, 14, 1442.
- [207] M.R. Detty, A.E. Friedmann and M. McMillan (1994). Organometallics, 13, 3338.
- [208] Y. Takaguchi, H. Fujihara and N. Fukurawa (1995). J. Organomet. Chem., 498, 49.
- [209] I.D. Sadekov, V.L. Nivorozhkin, A.V. Zakharov and V.I. Minkin (1996). Zh. Org. Khim., 32, 1434.
- [210] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko and V.I. Minkin (1996). Tetrahedron, 52, 3365.
- [211] J.L. Piette and M. Renson (1970). Bull. Chem. Soc. Belg., 79, 367.
- [212] J.L. Piette and M. Renson (1971). Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg., 80, 669.
- [213] I.D. Sadekov, V.L. Nivorozhkin, A.V. Zakharov, W.R. McWhinnie and V.I. Minkin (1997). Dokl. Akad. Nauk, 357, 504.
- [214] K.A. Leonard, F. Zhou and M.R. Detty (1996). Organometallics, 15, 4285.
- [215] K. Chikamatsu, T. Otsubo, F. Ogura and H. Yamaguchi (1982). Chemistry Lett., 1081.
- [216] W.R. McWhinnie and M.G. Patel (1972). J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 199.
- [217] A.A. Maksimenko, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1991). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 61, 778.
- [218] C.H.W. Jones and R.D. Sharma (1986). Organometallics, 5, 805.
- [219] I.D. Sadekov, B.B. Rivkin, A.A. Maksimenko and V.I. Minkin (1987). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 57, 1559.
- [220] I.D. Sadekov, B.B. Rivkin, P.I. Gadjieva and V.I. Minkin (1991). Heteroatom. Chem., 2, 307.
- [221] C.D. Desjardins, C. Lau and J. Passmore (1974). Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett., 10, 151.
- [222] W.R. McWhinnie, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1996). Sulfur Rep., 18, 295.
- [223] I.D. Sadekov, B.B. Rivkin, A.A. Maksimenko and E.I. Sadekova (1995). Sulfur Rep., 17, 1.
- [224] M.M. de Campos, E.L. Suranyi, H. de Andrade and N. Petragnani (1964). Tetrahedron, 20, 2797.
- [225] R.K. Chadha and J.E. Drake (1985). J. Organomet. Chem., 286, 121.
- [226] V.D. Nefedov, V.E. Zhuravlev, M.A. Toropova, S.A. Grachev and A.V. Levchenko (1965). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 35, 1436.

- [227] V.D. Nefedov, V.E. Zhuravlev, M.A. Toropova, S.A. Grachev and A.V. Levchenko (1965). Radiokhimia, 7, 245.
- [228] V.D. Nefedov, V.E. Zhuravlev, M.A. Toropova, S.A. Grachev and A.V. Levchenko (1965). Radiokhimia, 7, 203.
- [229] M.M. de Campos and N. Petragnani (1960). Tetrahedron Lett., 5.
- [230] A. Gioaba and O. Maior (1970). Rev. Chim. (Bucharest), 21, 131.
- [231] H. Suzuki, A. Kondo and A. Osuka (1985). Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 58, 1335.
- [232] A. Gioaba and O. Maior (1970). Rev. Roum. Chim., 15, 1967.
- [233] A.Ya. Bushkov and I.D. Sadekov (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 1917.
- [234] I.D. Sadekov, A.Ya. Bushkov and V.P. Metlushenko (1978). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 48, 1658.
- [235] F.H. Musa, W.R. McWhinnie and A.W. Downs (1977). J. Organomet. Chem., 134, C43.
- [236] F.H. Musa and W.R. McWhinnie (1978). J. Organomet. Chem., 159, 37.
- [237] T.N. Srivastava, R.C. Srivastava and M. Singh (1978). J. Organomet. Chem., 160, 449.
- [238] B.C. Pant (1972). Tetrahedron Lett., 4779.
- [239] B.C. Pant (1974). J. Organomet. Chem., 65, 51.
- [240] I.D. Sadekov and B.B. Rivkin (1982). Zh. Org. Khim., 18, 227.
- [241] I.D. Sadekov and A.A. Maksimenko (1977). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 47, 2536.
- [242] S. Tamagaki, I. Hatanaka and S. Kozuka (1977). Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn, 50, 2501.
- [243] I.D. Sadekov, B.B. Rivkin, A.A. Maksimenko and V.I. Minkin (1981). Zh. Org. Khim., 17, 205.
- [244] I.D. Sadekov, B.B. Rivkin and A.A. Maksimenko (1982). Izv. Sev.-Kavk. Nauchn. Tsentra Vyssh. Shk., Estestv. Nauki, 54; (1983). Chem Abstr., 98, 71583b.
- [245] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko, A.I. Usachev and V.I. Minkin (1975). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 45, 2562.
- [246] S. Uemura, K. Ohe and Fukuzawa (1985). Tetrahedron Lett., 26, 895.
- [247] A. Asthana and R.C. Srivastava (1989). J. Organomet. Chem., 366, 281.
- [248] K. Lederer (1916). Ber., 449, 1082.
- [249] M. Weiber and E. Schmidt (1988). Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 556, 179.
- [250] D.R.H. Barton, S.V. Ley and C.A. Meerholz (1979). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 755.
- [251] I.D. Sadekov, A.I. Usachev and V.I. Minkin (1978). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 48, 475.
- [252] A.I. Usachev (1979). Thesis, Rostov-na-Donu.
- [253] V.I. Naddaka, V.P. Gar'kin and V.I. Minkin (1980). Zh. Org. Khim., 16, 2619.
- [254] Gar'kin (1979). Thesis, Rostov-na-Donu.
- [255] S.A. Shevelev, V.V. Semenov and A.A. Fainzilberg (1977). Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim., 139.
- [256] I.D. Sadekov and A.A. Maksimenko (1981). Zh. Org. Khim., 17, 204.
- [257] A.A. Maksimenko, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1986). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 56, 2605.
- [258] A.A. Maksimenko, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1987). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 57, 238.
- [259] P. Magnus, M.B. Roe, V. Lynch and C. Hulme (1995). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 1609.
- [260] A.A. Maksimenko, I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1986). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 56, 1668.
- [261] S. Oae (1975). Khimia Organcheskikh Soedinenii Seri. Khimia, Moskwa.
- [262] R.C. Paul, R.K. Chadha, B.S. Bhandal and G. Singh (1981). Inorg. Chim. Acta, 52, 125.
- [263] B.L. Khandelwal, S.K. Jain and F.J. Berry (1982). Inorg. Chim. Acta, 59, 193.
- [264] N.S. Dance and C.H.W. Jones (1978). J. Organomet. Chem., 152, 175.
- [265] M.T. Chen and J.W. George (1972). J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 3261.
- [266] H.J. Emeleus and H.G. Heal (1946). J. Chem. Soc., 1126.
- [267] S. Herberg and D. Naumann (1982). Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 494, 159.
- [268] N.W. Alcock, W.D. Harrison and C. Howes (1984). J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans., 1709.
- [269] B.C. Pant, W.R. McWhinnie and N.C. Dance (1973). J. Organomet. Chem., 63, 305.
- [270] G. Kirsch, M.M. Goodman and F.F. Knapp (1983). Organometallics, 2, 357.
- [271] N. Petragnani, J.V. Comasseto and N.H. Varella (1976). J. Organomet. Chem., 120, 375.
- [272] R.C. Srivastava and A. Trivedi (1990). Ind. J. Chem., 29A, 489.
- [273] N.S. Dance and W.R. McWhinnie (1976). J. Organomet. Chem., 104, 317.
- [274] Z.A. Siddiqi, M. Shakir, M. Aslam and S.A.A. Zaidi (1983). Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 13, 173.
- [275] A.K. Mohamed and M. Shakir (1998). Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem., 136-138, 553.
- [276] M. Shakir, P.S. Hameed, F. Firdaus and S.R. Varkey (1995). Polyhedron, 14, 1289.
- [277] I.D. Sadekov, B.B. Rivkin and A.A. Maksimenko (1981). Zh. Org. Khim., 17, 2013.
- [278] T.N. Srivastava and P. Kumar (1982). Nat. Acad. Sci. Lett., 5, 399
- [279] T.N. Srivastava, J.D. Singh and S.K. Srivastava (1990). Polyhedron, 9, 943.
- [280] J.E. Drake, L.N. Khasrou, A.G. Mislankar and R. Ratnani (1994). Can. J. Chem., 72, 1328.
- [281] J.E. Drake, L.N. Khasrou, A.G. Mislankar and R. Ratnani (2000). Polyhedron, 19, 407.
- [282] R.K. Chadha, J.E. Drake, T.N. McManus, B.A. Quinlan and A.B. Sarkar (1987). Organometallics, 6, 813.
- [283] M. Wieber, E. Schmidt and C. Burschka (1985). Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 525, 127.
- [284] A. Silvestru, I. Haiduc, H.J. Breunig and K.H. Ebert (1995). Polyhedron, 14, 1175.
- [285] M. Wieber and E. Kaunzinger (1977). J. Organomet. Chem., 129, 339.

- [286] T.N. Srivastava, J.D. Singh and S. Mehrotra (1985). Ind. J. Chem., 24A, 849.
- [287] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko, G.K. Mehrotra and V.I. Minkin (1987). Zh. Org. Khim., 23, 657.
- [288] V.I. Minkin, A.A. Maksimenko, A.G. Maslakov, G.K. Mehrotra, O.E. Kompan, I.D. Sadekov, Yu.T. Struchkov and D.S. Yufit (1988). J. Organomet. Chem., 348, 63.
- [289] T.N. Srivastava, J.D. Singh and S. Mehrotra (1986). Ind. J. Chem., 25A, 480.
- [290] T.N. Srivastava, J.D. Singh, S.K. Srivastava and S. Srivastava (1990). Ind. J. Chem., 29A, 703.
- [291] O.E. Kompan, A.A. Maksimenko, Z. Galdetskii and I.D. Sadekov (1991). Metallorg. Khim., 4, 571.
- [292] T.N. Srivastava, A.K.S. Chauhan and G.K. Mehrotra (1982). Synt. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 12, 705.
- [293] A.G. Maslakov, E. Gresham, T.A. Hamor, W.R. McWhinnie, M.C. Perry and N. Shaikh (1994). J. Organomet. Chem., 480, 261.
- [294] N.S. Dance and W.R. McWhinnie (1975). Chem. Scr., 8a, 113.
- [295] T.M. Lowry and F.L. Gilbert (1929). J. Chem. Soc., 2076.
- [296] T.N. Srivastava, V.K. Srivastava and R.C. Srivastava (1985). Polyhedron, 4, 1223.
- [297] J. Bergman and L. Engman (1980). Z. Naturforsch., B35, 882.
- [298] R. Korewa and W. Rodziewicz (1963). Roczn. Chem., 37, 615.
- [299] R. Korewa (1963). Roczn. Chem., 37, 1565.
- [300] H.B. Jonassen, L.J. Theriot, E.A. Boudreaux and W.M. Ayers (1964). J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 26, 595.
- [301] I.D. Sadekov and V.I. Minkin (1971). Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 197, 1094.
- [302] V.D. Nefedov, E.N. Sinotova, A.N. Sarbash and S.A. Timofeev (1969). Radiokhimia, 11, 254.
- [303] V.D. Nefedov, E.N. Sinotova, A.N. Sarbash, E.A. Kolobov and V.V. Kapustin (1971). Radiokhimia, 13, 435.
- [304] I.D. Tseitmakh, A.Ya. Bushkov, L.E. Nivorozhkin and I.D. Sadekov (1978). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 48, 1658.
- [305] M. Albeck and S. Shaik (1975). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 1223.
- [306] I.D. Sadekov, A.A. Maksimenko, A.I. Usachev and V.I. Minkin (1975). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 45, 2563.
- [307] K. Lederer (1912). Liebigs Ann. Chem., 391, 326.
- [308] H. Rheinboldt and E. Giesbrecht (1947). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 69, 2310.
- [309] A.A. Maksimenko and I.D. Sadekov (1978). Zh. Org. Khim., 14, 2621.
- [310] V.I. Naddaka, V.P. Gar'kin, A.A. Maksimenko and I.D. Sadekov (1980). Zh. Org. Khim., 16, 2581.
- [311] K. Lederer (1920). Ber., 53, 1430.
- [312] K. Saruhashi, M. Minoura and K. Akiba (1997). Abstr. of 7th Internat. Conf. on the Chem. of Selenium and Tellurium, Aachen (Germany), PC-48.
- [313] R. Ziolo, C.J. Thornton and A.C. Smith (1980). J. Organomet. Chem., 190, C64.
- [314] Y. Matano, H. Suzuki and N. Azuma (1996). Organometallics, 15, 3760.
- [315] R.M. Moriarty and R.K. Vaid (1990). Synthesis, 431.
- [316] V.V. Zhdankin and P.J. Stang (1998). Tetrahedron, 54, 10927.
- [317] K.A. Jensen (1943). Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 250, 245.
- [318] G. Wittig and H. Fritz (1952). Liebigs Ann. Chem., 577, 39.
- [319] C.S. Smith, J.S. Lee, R.D. Titus and R.F. Ziolo (1982). Organometallics, 1, 350.
- [320] D. Naumann and B. Wilkes (1985). J. Fluorine Chem., 27, 115.
- [321] K. Alam and A.F. Janzen (1985). J. Fluorine Chem., 27, 467.
- [322] G. Klein and D. Naumann (1985). J. Fluorine Chem., 30, 259.
- [323] T.N. Srivastava, M. Singh and H.B. Singh (1982). Ind. J. Chem., 21A, 307.
- [324] I.P. Goldstein, E.I. Guryanova, I.D. Sadekov, E.D. Kremer and K.A. Kocheshkov (1976). Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim., 1625.
- [325] K.V. Smith and J.S. Thayer (1974). Inorg. Chem., 13, 3021.
- [326] K.V. Smith, J.S. Thayer and B.J. Zabransky (1975). Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett., 11, 441.
- [327] W. Pritzkow (1979). Inorg. Chem., 18, 311.
- [328] T.N. Srivastava, R.C. Srivastava and M. Singh (1979). Ind. J. Chem., 17A, 615.
- [329] L.E. Ribalkina, S.B. Bulgarevich, D.Ya. Movshovich, V.A. Kogan, I.D. Sadekov and O.A. Osipov (1984). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 54, 2281.
- [330] D.Ya. Movshovich, E.G. Amarskii, L.E. Ribalkina, S.B. Bulgarevich, V.A. Kogan and I.D. Sadekov (1987). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 57, 1786.
- [331] K.P. Schresta and J.S. Thayer (1971). J. Organomet. Chem., 27, 79.
- [332] S. Uemura and S. Fukuzawa (1984). J. Organomet. Chem., 268, 223.
- [333] S. Uemura and S. Fukuzawa (1980). Chemistry Lett., 943.
- [334] D.G. Marsh, J.Y.C. Chu, J.W. Lewicki and J.L. Weaver (1976). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 98, 8432.
- [335] S. Uemura, S. Fukuzawa, M. Wakasugi and M. Okano (1981). J. Organomet. Chem., 214, 319.
- [336] S. Uemura, M. Wakasugi and M. Okano (1980). J. Organomet. Chem., 194, 277.
- [337] J. Bergman and L. Engman (1979). J. Organomet. Chem., 175, 233.